
 
 

Scrutiny Panel B 
 

 Thursday, 25th April, 2013 
at 4.00 pm 

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING 
Conference Room 3 - Civic Centre 

 
This meeting is open to the public 

 
 Members 

 
 Councillor Dr Paffey (Chair) 

Councillor Furnell 
Councillor Kaur 
Councillor Shields 
Councillor Baillie 
Councillor Norris 
Councillor Turner 
 

 Contacts 
 Senior Democratic Support Officer 

Natalie Noke 
Tel: 023 8083 3950 
Email: natalie.noke@southampton.gov.uk 
 

  
 Policy and Performance Analyst 

Dorota Goble 
Tel: 023 8083 3317 
Email: dorota.goble@southampton.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack



 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

Role of Scrutiny Panel A Public Representations  
 

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee have 
instructed Scrutiny Panel B to undertake 
an inquiry into Apprenticeships. 
 
Purpose:   

To examine the Southampton 
Apprenticeship Action Plan and 
consider how the number of high 
quality Apprenticeships in 
Southampton can be increased. 

Objectives: 
1. To examine the work already 

delivered by the Council and its 
partners to generate 
Apprenticeship growth in the City  

2. To examine the impact of 
Apprenticeships on the City 
economy  

3. To examine ways to significantly 
increase the numbers of 
Apprenticeships in Southampton, 
particularly for 16-18 year olds, to 
figures above regional and 
national averages  

 
 

Southampton City Council’s Six 
Priorities 
• Providing good value, high quality 
services 
• Getting the City working 
• Investing in education and training 
• Keeping people safe 
• Keeping the City clean and green 
• Looking after people 
 

At the discretion of the Chair, members of 
the public may address the meeting about 
any report on the agenda for the meeting 
in which they have a relevant interest. 
 
Smoking policy – the Council operates a 
no-smoking policy in all civic buildings. 
 
Mobile Telephones – please turn off your 
mobile telephone whilst in the meeting. 
 
Fire Procedure – in the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take. 
 
Access – access is available for the 
disabled. Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements. 
 
 
 
Dates of Meetings: 

2013 
25 April  
23 May 
27 June 
25 July 
22 August 
26 September 
 
 
 



 

 
CONDUCT OF MEETING 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE  
The general role and terms of reference 
of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee, together with 
those for all Scrutiny Panels, are set out 
in Part 2 (Article 6) of the Council’s 
Constitution, and their particular roles 
are set out in Part 4 (Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules – paragraph 
5) of the Constitution. 
 

BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 
Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this 
meeting. 

 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules as set out in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 

QUORUM 
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance to 
hold the meeting is 3. 

 
 

DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST 
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, both the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Personal Interest” or 
“Other Interest”  they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this 
Agenda. 

DISCLOSABLE PERSONAL INTERESTS 
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
in any matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner 
in relation to:  
 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
(ii) Sponsorship: 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
Southampton City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of 
any expense incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992. 
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which 
the you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council 
under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and 
which has not been fully discharged. 
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton. 
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
Southampton for a month or longer. 
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council 
and the tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests. 
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your 
knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either: 

a) the total nominal value fo the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 



 

the total issued share capital of that body, or 
b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a 
beneficial interest that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that class. 

 
Other Interests 

 
 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a, ‘Other Interest’ in any 
membership of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in: 

 
 
Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City 
Council 
 
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature 
 
Any body directed to charitable purposes 
 
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 
• proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 
• due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 
• respect for human rights; 
• a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 
• setting out what options have been considered; 
• setting out reasons for the decision; and 
• clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

 
In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 
• understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to 

it.  The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 
• take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 

authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 
• leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 
• act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 
• not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also 

known as the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 
• comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an 

annual basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ 
and forward funding are unlawful; and 

• act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 
 



 

 
AGENDA 

 

Agendas and papers are now available via the City Council’s website  
1 APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
 To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 

Procedure Rule 4.3.  
 

2 ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR  
 

 To appoint a Vice-Chair to the Scrutiny Panel for the duration of the Inquiry. 
 

3 DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 

 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting. 
 

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer.  
 

4 DECLARATIONS OF SCRUTINY INTEREST  
 

 Members are invited to declare any prior participation in any decision taken by a 
Committee, Sub-Committee, or Panel of the Council on the agenda and being 
scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

5 DECLARATION OF PARTY POLITICAL WHIP  
 

 Members are invited to declare the application of any party political whip on any matter 
on the agenda and being scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

6 STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  
 

7 APPRENTICESHIPS INQUIRY; MEETING 1; SETTING THE SCENE  
 

 Report of the Head of Communities, Change and Partnership providing details for the 
first meeting of the Inquiry examining apprenticeships in the city and outlining the 
national policy and issues for apprenticeships locally, attached. 
 
Wednesday, 17 April 2013 HEAD OF LEGAL, HR AND DEMOCRATIC 

SERVICES 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  SCRUTINY PANEL B 
SUBJECT: APPRENTICESHIPS INQUIRY  

MEETING 1: SETTING THE SCENE 
DATE OF DECISION: 25 APRIL 2013 
REPORT OF: HEAD OF COMMUNITIES, CHANGE AND 

PARTNERSHIPS 
STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 
None 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
This report provides details for the first meeting of the Inquiry examining 
apprenticeships in the city.  It outlines the national policy and issues for 
apprenticeships locally. 
The Cabinet Member for Communities will outline the administration’s vision and 
approach to apprenticeships.  There will also be four presentations, followed by 
questions from the Panel. The presentations will highlight: 

• National policy and the current apprenticeship system (Ian Smith, National 
Apprenticeship Service) 

• Introduction to council strategies and plans and other national drivers (Denise 
Edghill, Head of Skills, Regeneration and Partnerships) 

• Southampton, current performance, trends and best practice (Andy Tickner, 
Skills Manager) 

• Apprenticeships in the People Plan Council’s People Plan (Claire Wilkinson, Human 
Resources Business Partner)  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 (i) The Panel is recommended to consider the information provided by 

the Cabinet Member for Resources and presentations and use this, 
alongside the appendices, as evidence in the inquiry. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. To enable the Panel to analyse the evidence in order to formulate findings 

and recommendations at the end of the inquiry process.  
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 
2. The final Terms of Reference and Inquiry Plan were approved by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on 16th August 2012.  Since 
they were approved, the focus for apprenticeships in the city has shifted to the 
need to develop a new Southampton Apprenticeship Action Plan.  The draft 
Inquiry timetable is attached at Appendix 1. 

3. The purpose of the Inquiry is to: 
• Examine existing local and national issues relating to Apprenticeship 

recruitment  
• Consider how the number of Apprenticeships in Southampton can be 

increased.  

Agenda Item 7



 2

• Inform a new Southampton Apprenticeship Action Plan. 
4. The first meeting of the Inquiry therefore aims to help the Panel to 

understand the key national drivers and local issues for apprenticeships in 
the city that will influence the new Southampton Apprenticeship Action Plan. 

5. Apprenticeships are vital for equipping local people with the skills they need 
to prosper, and to provide Southampton with the skilled workforce it needs to 
support economic growth and compete regionally and nationally. 

6. The Cabinet Member for Communities will make a brief statement outlining 
the administration’s vision and approach for responding to apprenticeships.   

7. The presentation from the National Apprenticeship Service (NAS) will be 
given by Ian Smith, Employer Account Manager for the South Central region. 
He will outline the role of NAS, the Government’s latest apprenticeship policy 
and how the current apprenticeship system works. He will also update on the 
Richard Review of Apprenticeships. 

8. Denise Edghill, Head of Skills, Regeneration and Partnerships, is the lead 
officer covering apprenticeships. She will outline council strategies and plans 
that impact on apprenticeship access for individuals, and growth for local 
business. She will also update on how Raising the Participation Age (RPA) 
legislation will impact on apprenticeships. 

9. Andy Tickner, Skills Manager, is responsible for the council’s apprenticeship 
programmes and partnership work with NAS.  He will give evidence to the 
Panel on the impact of Employment and Skills Plans, local support 
arrangements and apprenticeship campaigns 

10. The final presentation outlining the role of apprenticeships in the Council’s 
People Plan will be given by Claire Wilkinson, Human Resources Business 
Partner. 

11. The Panel is invited to have a discussion on the national and local drivers and 
trends for apprenticeships in the city and their potential impact locally with the 
Cabinet Member for Communities and those giving evidence.   

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
12. None 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
Capital/Revenue 
13. Not applicable 
Property/Other 
14. Not applicable 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
Statutory Power to undertake the proposals in the report:  
15. The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Section 21 of the 

Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 
 



 3

Other Legal Implications: 
16. None 
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 
17. None 
AUTHOR: Name:  Dorota Goble Tel: 023 8083 3317 
 E-mail:      dorota.goble@southampton.gov.uk 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 
Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 

on-line 
Appendices  
1. Apprenticeships Inquiry Terms of Reference 
2. Apprenticeships Policy in England (House of Commons Library) 
3. The Future of Apprenticeships in England: Next Steps from the Richard Review 
4. NAS Southampton Final Report 2011/12 
5. Southampton Apprenticeship Campaign Briefing Paper 
Documents In Members’ Rooms 
1. None 
Integrated Impact Assessment   
Do the implications/subject/recommendations in the report require an 
Integrated Impact Assessment to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing document 
to be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

N/A 
Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at:  
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
Apprenticeships Review 

Terms of Reference and Inquiry Plan 
 
1. Scrutiny Panel: 

Scrutiny Panel B 
 

2. Membership: 
a. Councillor Paffey (Chair) 
b. Councillor Kaur 
c. Councillor Furnell 
d. Councillor Shields 
e. Councillor Baillie 
f. Councillor Norris 
g. Councillor Turner 

 
3. Purpose: 

To examine existing local, regional and national issues relating to Apprenticeship recruitment 
and consider how the number of Apprenticeships in Southampton can be increased. 
Outcomes from the review will inform a new Southampton Apprenticeship Action Plan. 
 

4. Background: 
a. Apprenticeships are vital for equipping local people with the skills they need to prosper, 

and to provide Southampton with the skilled workforce it needs to support economic 
growth and compete regionally and nationally. 

b. The National Apprenticeship Service (NAS) was created in April 2009 and has end-to-
end responsibility for apprenticeships in England. The NAS is responsible for promoting 
apprenticeships to employers and learners, supporting employers through the process of 
recruiting and training an apprentice, and maintaining the national online apprenticeship 
vacancies system which allows employers to post vacancies and aspiring apprentices to 
search and apply for them. 

c. Southampton has seen an annual increase in the number of residents starting 
Apprenticeships. NAS data for academic year 2011/12 shows 1,493 residents, started an 
apprenticeship across all ages, 13% higher than the previous year. However, this is 
below regional and national growth rates, at 20% and 17% respectively. 

d. The number of young people aged 16-18 starting Apprenticeships is not consistent with 
the overall growth figures. NAS data for academic year 2011/12 shows 354 young people 
started an apprenticeship, 4% lower than the previous year. Regional and national 
growth rates for 16-18 year olds stand at 4% and 2% respectively. 

e. The Government is increasing the age to which all young people must continue in 
education or training, requiring them to continue until the end of the academic year in 
which they turn 17 from 2013, and until their 18th birthday from 2015. With effect from 
September 2013, Raising of the Participation Age (RPA) will significantly increase the 
demand for Apprenticeship opportunities from young people in Southampton. 

f. The Council works in partnership with NAS to ensure local residents and employers are 
given the best possible Information, Advice and Guidance (IAG) and access to 
Apprenticeships, and delivers local initiatives to support apprenticeship growth. The 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



Council will be launching a new Southampton Apprenticeship Action Plan in September 
2013. 

 
5. Objectives: 

a. To examine the work already delivered by the Council and its partners to support 
apprenticeship growth in the city. 

b. To examine the impact of Apprenticeships on the city economy. 
c. To examine ways to significantly increase the numbers of Apprenticeships in 

Southampton, particularly for 16-18 year olds, to exceed regional and national averages. 
 
6. Methodology: 

a. Outline of current national policy and local activity: 
• Apprenticeship national policy, frameworks and initiatives 
• Government reviews 
• Local performance and trends 

 
b. Engage partners and individuals: 

• Representation and feedback from key partners and apprenticeship providers 
• Representation from employers 
• Representation from apprentices 

 
c. Identify and consider best practice and options for future delivery: 

• National best practice examples 
• Local success stories 
• Links to council strategies and plans 
• Outline of current resourcing and budgets 
• Future options for delivery and resourcing 

 
7. Proposed Timetable: 

Six meetings April - September 2013. 
 
8. Review Programme: 

To be developed based around the following outline Inquiry Plan: 



Inquiry Plan* 
 
25 April 2013 
Meeting 1: Setting the Scene 
An overview of current apprenticeship policy and national and local perspectives 
Speaker Organisation Subject 

Cllr Jacqui Rayment Cabinet Member The Council vision for 
Apprenticeships 

Ian Smith National Apprenticeship Service 
(NAS) 

National policy and the current 
apprenticeship system, and update 
on the Richard Review 

Denise Edghill SCC Head of Skills, 
Regeneration and Partnerships 

Links to Council strategies and 
plans, and impact of Raising the 
Participation Age (RPA) legislation 

Andy Tickner SCC Skills Manager 
Current apprenticeship 
performance, local initiatives and 
best practice 

Claire Wilkinson SCC HR Business Partner Apprenticeships in the Council 
People Plan 

Background 
papers: 

1. Apprenticeships Policy in England (House of Commons Library) 
2. The Future of Apprenticeships in England: Next Steps from the 

Richard Review 
3. NAS Southampton Final Report 2011/12 
4. Southampton Apprenticeship Campaign Briefing Paper 

 
23 May 2013 
Meeting 2: Employers Perspective 
To review employer experiences of apprenticeship recruitment, training and support 
Speaker Organisation Subject 

 National Apprenticeship Service 
(NAS) 

Local support arrangements for 
large employers, and small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) 

 Barratt Homes Working with SCC Employment and 
Skills Plans 

 Balfour Beatty Working as SCC partner 

 University Hospital 
Southampton 

Apprenticeship recruitment issues - 
large employer  

 SME 1 Apprenticeship recruitment issues – 
small and medium-size enterprise 



 Federation of Small Business 
(FSB) Views from employer 

representative organisation 
 Hampshire and IOW Chamber 

of Commerce 

 SCC Housing Policy and 
Projects 

Example of SCC Apprenticeship 
recruitment 

Background 
papers 

1. S106 Employment and Skills Plan 
2. TBC 

 
27 June 2013 
Meeting 3: Apprenticeship Providers Perspective 
To review apprenticeship training provision and feedback from local providers 
Speaker Organisation Subject 

 National Apprenticeship Service Local Apprenticeship training 
arrangements  

 
Association of Learning 
Providers Hampshire and IOW 
(ALPHI) 

Update from Apprenticeship 
provider network  

 Southampton City College 
Details of local Apprenticeship 
training provision and coverage 
across sectors 

 Brockenhurst College 
 Eastleigh College 

 Southampton Engineering 
Training Association (SETA 

Background 
papers TBC 

 
25 July 2013 
Meeting 4: Learners’ Perspective 
To review experiences of individual learners, careers advice and local support organisations 
Speaker Organisation Subject 

 National Apprenticeship Service 
National and local resources for 
Information, Advice and Guidance 
(IAG) 

 SCC Children’s Services 
Information, Advice and Guidance 
(IAG) for young people, and 
arrangements for RPA 

 National Careers Service Information, Advice and Guidance 
(IAG) for adults 



 Solent Education Business 
Partnership 

Issues facing apprenticeship 
progression by young people and 
adults  Wheatsheaf Trust 

 Apprentice 1 
Feedback from current Apprentices  Apprentice 2 

 Apprentice 3 
Background 
papers TBC 

 
27 August 2013 
Meeting 5: The Way Forward for Apprenticeships 
Developing draft recommendations 
Speaker Organisation Subject 
Scrutiny Panel 
Members 

SCC  

Denise Edghill SCC Head of Skills, 
Regeneration and Partnerships 

 

Andy Tickner SCC Skills Manager  
 National Apprenticeship Service  
 SCC Human Resources  
 Union Representatives  
 
26 September 2013 
Meeting 6: Final Report 
To approve the final report and Southampton Apprenticeship Action Plan 
Speaker Organisation Subject 

Denise Edghill SCC Head of Skills, 
Regeneration and Partnerships 

 

Andy Tickner SCC Skills Manager  
 
*Subject to the availability of speakers 



This page is intentionally left blank



Apprenticeships policy 

Standard Note: SN/3052

Last updated: 12 September 2012 

Author: Chris Rhodes 

Section: Economic Policy and Statistics 

This note outlines apprenticeships policy in England. Other House of Commons Library 

Standard Notes that may be of interest include: 

Apprenticeships statistics

Apprenticeships and small businesses

Apprenticeships are paid jobs that incorporate on and off the job training. A successful 

apprentice will receive a nationally recognised qualification on completion of their contract. 

Apprenticeships policy is the responsibility of the Department for Education if the apprentice 

is aged under 19, and the responsibility of the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 

if the apprentice is aged 19 or over. 

The Government pays a proportion of the training costs for apprentices, depending on their 

age. The apprentice’s employer will normally cover any remaining training costs. 

The Government intends to increase the number of apprentices and the budget for 

apprenticeships over this Parliament. 

The Government has introduced a range of policies to encourage people to take up 

apprenticeships and to encourage businesses to take on more apprentices. 

In the 2010/11 academic year, 457,200 people started apprenticeships, 177,510 more than 

in the 2009/10 academic year, a 63% increase. 

This information is provided to Members of Parliament in support of their parliamentary duties 

and is not intended to address the specific circumstances of any particular individual. It should 

not be relied upon as being up to date; the law or policies may have changed since it was last 

updated; and it should not be relied upon as legal or professional advice or as a substitute for 

it. A suitably qualified professional should be consulted if specific advice or information is 

required.

This information is provided subject to our general terms and conditions which are available 

online or may be provided on request in hard copy. Authors are available to discuss the 

content of this briefing with Members and their staff, but not with the general public. 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



Contents

1 Overview of apprenticeship system 3

1.1 Training costs: what the government covers 3

1.2 Minimum wage and employee rights for apprentices 4

2 Apprenticeship forecasts and budget 4

2.1 Apprenticeship starts 4

2.2 Forecast number of apprentices 4

2.3 Budget for apprenticeships 5

3 Apprenticeship polices announced since May 2010 6

3.1 The Education Act 2011 6

3.2 Minimum standards for apprenticeships 6

3.3 Further Education loans for apprentices 7

3.4 Apprenticeship Grant for Employers of 16 to 24 year olds (AGE 16-24) 8

3.5 Higher Apprenticeship Fund 9

3.6 Apprenticeship training agencies 10

3.7 Access to Apprenticeships 10

4 Statistics 11

2



1 Overview of apprenticeship system 

Skills and training are devolved policy areas. This Note deals with apprenticeships in 

England.

The National Apprenticeship Service (NAS) was created in April 2009 and has end-to-end 

responsibility for apprenticeships in England. The NAS is responsible for promoting 

apprenticeships to employers and learners, supporting employers through the process of 

recruiting and training an apprentice, and maintaining the national online apprenticeship 

vacancies system which allows employers to post vacancies and aspiring apprentices to 

search and apply for them.1

There are over 200 different apprenticeships (known as ‘apprenticeship frameworks’) 

available in 13 broad sector subject areas. 2

Each apprenticeship framework is made up of three elements; a National Vocational 

Qualification (which examines the apprentices’ work-based skills), a Technical Certificate 

(which examines the apprentices’ theoretical knowledge) and Key Skills (which examines the 

apprentices’ transferable skills, for example, numeracy and literacy).3

Apprenticeship frameworks can be studied at different qualification levels:  

Intermediate Apprenticeships are Level 2 qualifications, equivalent to A*-C GCSEs; 

Advanced Apprenticeships are Level 3 qualifications equivalent to A-Levels; 

Higher Apprenticeships are Level 4 qualifications, equivalent to BTEC professional 

diplomas and Higher National Certificates.4

1.1 Training costs: what the government covers 

Apprenticeships for people aged under 19 are funded by the Department for Education (DfE). 

Apprenticeships for people aged 19 and over are funded by the Department for Business 

Innovation and Skills (BIS). 

DfE and BIS cover a proportion of the cost of training apprentices dependent on the age of 

the apprentice, through the NAS. They contribute:  

 100% of the training costs if the apprentice is aged 16-18; 

 50% of the training costs if the apprentice is aged 19-24; 

 Up to 50% of the training costs if the apprentice is aged over 25.5

If employers choose to deliver additional qualifications as part of an apprenticeship on top of 

those identified by the relevant Sector Skills Council,6 then these qualifications will be paid 

1
 NAS website, Our responsibilities

2
 NAS website, Types of apprenticeships

3
Ibid

4
 Direct Gov, Qualifications: what the different levels mean

5
 NAS website, Training and funding

6
 Sector Skills Councils are employer-led organisations that determine the skills required within their vocational 

area, e.g. design apprenticeship frameworks. They are intended to involve employers in skills policy and 
operate on a UK-wide basis. For more information see BIS website on Sector Skills Councils

3



for by the employer not the government. Employers are free to fund apprenticeships 

themselves without any support from government. 

1.2 Minimum wage and employee rights for apprentices 

Apprentices aged 16-18 are entitled to the ‘apprentice minimum wage’ of £2.60 an hour.7

Apprentices aged 19 and over in the first 12 months of their apprenticeship are also entitled 

to the apprentice minimum wage. After the first 12 months of their apprenticeship, people 

aged over 19 are entitled to the National Minimum Wage.8 National Minimum Wage rates are 

age dependent and rise from £4.98 an hour for under 21 year olds to £6.08 an hour for 

people aged 21 and over.9

As apprentices are employees they are entitled to the same employment rights as other 

employees. This includes holiday entitlement and maternity leave.10

2 Apprenticeship forecasts and budget 

The Coalition Agreement stated that:11

We will seek ways to support the creation of apprenticeships, internships, work 

pairings, and college and workplace training places as part of our wider programme to 

get Britain working. 

2.1 Apprenticeship starts 

Over the first financial year of the current Parliament (April 2010 – March 2011), the 

Government’s target was for 50,000 more apprenticeship starts by people aged 19 and over, 

compared to in the previous financial year. This means that the Government aimed for a total 

of 203,000 adult apprenticeship starts in the 2010/11 financial year. 12

There were 256,000 starts by people aged 19 and over during the 2010/11 financial year, 

53,000 more than the Government’s target.13

2.2 Forecast number of apprentices 

The Government has published an illustrative forecast of the number of people who will be 

undertaking apprenticeships over the next three academic years. Note that the table below 

shows the total number of people doing apprenticeships, not the number of apprenticeship 

starts. 

7
 Low Pay Commission, National Minimum Wage Report 2011

8
Ibid; Written Ministerial Statement, “National Minimum Wage”, 21 Jun 2010

9
 Direct Gov, National Minimum Wage rates, website 

10
 NAS website, Apprentices Q&A

11
Coalition Government Agreement, May 2010, page 31 

12
 BIS, Statistical First Release DS/SFR12, October 2011, pp 14. 

13
Ibid

4



Number of apprentices by age

Academic years (1 Aug-31July) - England

Age of apprentice 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12* 2012/13* 2013/14*

16-18 186,000 203,000 222,000 240,000 -

19+ 305,000 463,000 645,000 650,000 655,000

All ages 491,000 666,000 867,000 890,000 -

Sources: Young People's Learning Agency, Funding statement , December 2011, pp 5

BIS, Statistical First Release, DS/SFR13,  January 2012, pp 24

BIS, Skills investment statement 2011-14 , December 2011, pp 6

Notes: * indicates illustrative forecasts

 - these figures are not available

Rounded to nearest 1,000

The table shows the large increase in the number of adult apprenticeships that will occur 

over the course of this Parliament, from just over 300,000 in 2009/10 to over 650,000 in 

2013/14, an 110% increase. 

2.3 Budget for apprenticeships 

The table below shows the current and minimum expected budget for apprenticeships. 

Apprenticeships budget

£ millions - Financial years (1 Apr-31 Mar) - England

Age of apprentice 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13* 2013/14*

16-18 (DfE) 688 780 779 833 -

19+ (BIS) 384 451 644 690 639

Total apprenticeships budget 1,072 1,231 1,423 1,523 -

Sources: SFA, Annual report and accounts 2010/11 , July 2011, pp 68  

Young People's Learning Agency, Funding statement , December 2011, pp 5

BIS, Skills investment statement 2011-14 , December 2011, pp 3

BIS, SFA funding letter from Rt. Hon. Vince Cable MP to Geoff Russell , 22 May 2012

Notes: * Minimum expected budgets for apprenticeships

2012/13 figure includes £32 million for AGE 16-24

2013-14 figure includes £42 million available as FE loans and £13 million for AGE 16-24

In nominal terms

Excludes money allocated to the Employer Ownership Pilot from the adult apprenticeship 

budget: £25 million in 2012/13 and £100 million in 2013/14

The total adult skills budget will fall from £2.0 billion in 2012/13 to £1.7 billion in 2013/14. This 
includes the adult apprenticeship budget, which will fall from £690 million to £639 million over 
the same period.14

One of the reasons for the fall in the adult apprenticeships budget is that £25 million in 
2012/13 and £100 million in 2013/14 has been allocated to the Employer Ownership Pilot. 
This is a fund totalling £250 million over two years awarded to businesses in England 
engaged in designing and delivering their own training solutions. It is expected that many of 
these solutions will involve apprenticeship-style training.15

14
 BIS, SFA funding letter from Rt. Hon. Vince Cable MP to Geoff Russell, 22 May 2012 

15
 UKCES, Employer Ownership of Skills – Pilot, 2012 

5



3 Apprenticeship polices announced since May 2010 

A range of policies related to apprenticeships have been introduced since the government 

came to power. Some of these intend to encourage more people to do apprenticeships, 

some encourage more businesses to offer apprenticeship and some intend to raise the 

standard of apprenticeships. These policies are outlined below. 

3.1 The Education Act 2011

The Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 (ASCLA) resulted in a wide 

range of changes covering apprenticeships, skills and education provision. ASCLA 

introduced a duty to provide an apprenticeship place to all qualified young people (aged 16-

19) who did not have one and wanted one. This was due to commence in 2013.  

The Education Act 2011 removed this duty. Instead, a new duty will be placed on the 

government to fund an apprenticeship for young people who have already secured an 

apprenticeship place. This new “apprenticeship offer” will come into effect by 2013 and 

applies to England only.16

The Act also creates a new duty on the government to “make reasonable efforts to ensure 

employers participate in Apprenticeship training.”17

3.2 Minimum standards for apprenticeships 

NAS published the Statement on Apprenticeship Quality in May 2012. This statement 

summarises the various aspects of apprenticeships which are subject to minimum standards. 

These are outlined below.18

In April 2012 it was announced that the minimum length for all apprenticeships will be 12 

months. Some apprentices over the age of 19 may be able to complete their apprenticeship 

in a shorter period of time, but only if they can demonstrate prior attainment of certain 

relevant qualifications. In these cases, the apprenticeship must last a minimum of six 

months. These rules will become mandatory from August 2012.19

All apprentices must spend at least 280 hours in ‘guided learning’, during the first 12 months 

of their apprenticeship. 100 hours or 30% (whichever is greater) of all guided learning must 

be delivered off-the-job. Clear and verifiable evidence must be provided of all learning 

undertaken.20

All apprentices must be employed for a minimum of 30 hours per week. This includes time 

spent away from the workplace engaged in training. If an apprentice’s personal 

circumstances or if the nature of employment in a given sector make it impossible to work 

these hours, then an absolute minimum of 16 hours a week must be worked. In these 

exceptional cases, the total duration of the apprenticeship will be extended accordingly.21

16
 The Education Act 2011, Part 7, Section 37, explanatory notes

17
Ibid

18
 NAS, Statement on Apprenticeship Quality, May 31 2012

19
 BIS, Press release: Tough standards released by Skills Minister to drive up quality, 1 April 2012 

20
NAS, Specification of Apprenticeship Standards for England, January 2011, pp 9 

21
 SFA, Funding rules for 2012/13, May 2012, pp 28 

6



All apprenticeships must offer training to Level 2 (equivalent to GCSE grade A* to C) in 

Functional Skills or English and Maths. This offer is only extended to apprentices who have 

not already achieved these or equivalent qualifications.22

Before an apprenticeship can begin, all apprentices must sign an Apprenticeship Agreement 

with their employer. This is a contract which stipulates the framework which the apprentice is 

following and the skill, trade or occupation in which the apprentices is working. This 

agreement is not a legally binding contract of employment, but without it, an apprenticeship 

completion certificate cannot be issued.23

The Government have also introduced a series of safeguards which are designed to 

strengthen the monitoring and reporting process for training providers and employers 

involved in delivering apprenticeships. An ‘enquiry panel’ has been established in the NAS to 

manage any poor quality providers. This panel reports directly to the relevant Minister and 

has the power to impose sanctions on sub-standard training providers.24

The NAS have recently published the Apprenticeship Quality Action Plan which details how 

issues of quality in apprenticeships have been and are intended to be addressed in the 

future. This document outlines how the NAS will escalate concerns over the quality of 

specific apprenticeships and the way in which various relevant bodies will intervene to 

improve individual apprenticeships.25

The document setting out minimum academic requirements that must be met by all 

frameworks is the Specification of Apprenticeship Standards for England (SASE).26 This is a 

technical document written principally to guide organisations involved in designing 

frameworks. It stipulates the minimum qualifications levels required of successful apprentices 

under the vocational element, the technical element and the key skills element of the 

apprenticeship. It also specifies the standards of attainment expected of successful 

apprentices under various headings, including ‘team working’ and ‘effective presentation’. 

Further detailed information on the minimum contractual and operational standards required 

of apprenticeships can be found in the SFA Funding rules for 2012/13.27

It was announced in June 2012 that the future of apprenticeships will be reviewed for the 

government by Doug Richard, the founder of School for Startups. This review will examine 

the extent to which apprenticeships meet the needs of the economy, the extent to which 

apprenticeships deliver quality training, and how the impact of government investment in 

apprenticeships can be maximised.28

3.3 Further Education loans for apprentices 

This policy affects learners aged 24 and over studying for apprenticeships at Level 3 and 

above. Apprenticeship for under 24 year olds will continue to be free to the apprentice, as will 

Level 2 apprenticeships for people of all ages. This policy will be introduced for the 2013/14 

academic year.

22
Ibid, pp 32 

23
Ibid, pp 25 

24
 BIS, Press release: Tough standards released by Skills Minister to drive up quality, 1 April 2012 

25
 NAS, Apprenticeship Quality Action Plan, April 2012 

26
 NAS, Specification of Apprenticeship Standards for England, January 2011 

27
 SFA, Funding rules for 2012/13, May 2012 

28
 BIS, Press release: Entrepreneur and founder of School for Startups, Doug Richard, is to lead an independent 

review into the future of apprenticeships for the Government, 11 June 2012 

7



The policy proposes that the employer will continue to contribute up to 50% of the training 

costs, but the apprentices aged 24 and over will be expected to contribute the remaining 

costs. A loan will be made available for these apprentices from the government. As the 

Government states: 

This is the first time that learners aged 24 or above may be expected to contribute toward the 

costs of their Apprenticeship.29

FE loans for apprentices will operate on a very similar system to the one currently in place for 

Higher Education (HE) students, as the table below indicates:30

The Government intends to introduce this system in time for the 2013/14 academic year. The 

first loan funded apprentices will start their courses in August 2013, having been able to 

apply for loans from March 2013.31

3.4 Apprenticeship Grant for Employers of 16 to 24 year olds (AGE 16-24) 

The Apprenticeship Grant for Employers of 16 to 24 year olds (AGE 16-24) was announced 

in November 201132 and launched in February 2012. 33

AGE 16-24 is designed to encourage more small businesses to take on apprentices, to 

encourage more young apprentices and to raise the skill level of apprentices. 34

29
 BIS consultation: New challenges, new chances: next steps in implementing the further education reform 

programme – Further Education Loans, August 2011, page 14
30

Ibid: page 11
31

Ibid: Page 29
32

 BIS, Press release: Apprenticeships: Cable guarantees quality, slashes red tape and delivers cash boost for 
firms, 16 November 2011 

33
 BIS, Press release: PM: We’ll make apprenticeships a gold standard option for ambitious young people, 7

February 2012 
34

 NAS, AGE 16-24, February 2012, website 

8



The scheme will pay £1,500 to small businesses that take on a young apprentice between 

February 2012 and March 2013, if the firm has never hired an apprentice before.  

The details of the updated scheme are as follows35:

 The apprentice must be 16-24 years old when hired 

 The firm must have 1,000 or fewer employees when they take on the apprentice 

 For a business to be eligible for payment, the employer must not have taken on an 

apprentice in the last 12 months 

 An employer can claim up to 10 grants 

Payment 

Employers will be paid £1,500 if they take on an apprentice and fulfil the above eligibility 

criteria. 

The full amount will be paid after the 13 week stage of the apprentice’s appointment, with the 

expectation that the apprentice will progress into sustainable employment.36

The scheme is intended to encourage 20,000 new apprentices, and the scheme will be 

funded from money already allocated to apprenticeships. 

Budget

£31.8 million has been allocated to NAS for AGE 16-24 in the 2012/13 financial year. £12.6 

million has been allocated for 2013/14.37

3.5 Higher Apprenticeship Fund 

The Government’s Skills Strategy committed to improve apprenticeship standards:38

We will not only increase numbers, but we will also improve the programme. As an advanced 

economy needs advanced skills, we will reshape Apprenticeships so that technician level – 

Level 3 – becomes the level to which learners and employers aspire. To widen access, there 

will be clear progression routes from Level 3 Apprenticeships to higher level skills, including 

Level 4 Apprenticeships or higher education. 

The delivery of this commitment involved the establishment of the Higher Apprenticeship 

Fund (HAF). The HLAF aims to develop a range of higher level apprenticeships, and fund 

10,000 apprentices on these newly created frameworks.39

The HAF is intended to aid the development of the ‘soft infrastructure’ for skills, by 

encouraging businesses and training providers to design and pilot courses together. 

In December 2011, the projects which had successfully applied for HAF money were 

announced. Successful bids include those from FE colleges, Sector Skills Councils, 

businesses, charities, universities and training consortia.40

35
 NAS, AGE 16-24 criteria changes – August 2012, 21 August 2012 

36
Ibid

37
 BIS, SFA funding letter from Rt. Hon. Vince Cable MP to Geoff Russell, 22 May 2012 

38
 BIS, Skills for Sustainable Growth: Strategy Document, Nov 2010, page 7 

39
 NAS, HLF prospectus, June 2011 

40
 BIS, Press release: 19,000 new higher apprenticeships to deliver skills for growth, 1 December 2011 

9



The frameworks will be developed in the coming months by businesses and training 

providers and launched during the 2011/12 and 2012/13 academic years.  

The figures published in December 2011 indicate that the HAF will fund over 11,000 

apprenticeships at Level 4 or above. Additionally, over 6,000 more Level 4 or above 

apprenticeships will be funded from the apprenticeships budget, taking the total number of 

funded Higher Level apprenticeships to almost 19,000.41

A second round of HAF funding was announced in February 2012. This round adds £6 

million to the £19 million that was awarded in the first round awarded in the first round of the 

HAF. The fund is worth £25 million overall. 42

The second round of the HAF seeks applications to develop higher apprenticeships in areas 

including accounting, aerospace, paralegal, early years schooling, retail and the space 

industry. The intention is that this round of the HAF will build “ladders of progression” from 

intermediate and advanced apprenticeships to the newly created higher apprenticeships.43

3.6 Apprenticeship training agencies 

Apprenticeship Training Agencies (ATAs) are organisations which directly employ 

apprentices. The business hosting the apprentice will operate as the apprentice’s day-to-day 

workplace and manager. The ATA will coordinate the training provided to the apprentice and 

will pay any training costs associated with the training. The host employer pays the ATA a 

fee based on the apprentice’s wage and any training costs.44

ATAs act as an incentive for businesses to take on apprentices because they will deal with 

any additional administration associated with hiring or employing an apprentice. The 

apprentices will require no more administration than a normal employee, and ATAs will also 

take on responsibility for National Insurance and tax administration, and performance 

management in some cases, reducing the administrative burden further. 

ATAs are also flexible in order to offer the most useful assistance to businesses. If a 

business wants just part of the administration associated with taking on an apprentice dealt 

with by an ATA (for example, recruitment), then ATAs can offer this. 

ATAs were first introduced in 2009 and have been piloted in several regions over the years 

since then.45 ATAs are listed by region on the NAS website.

3.7 Access to Apprenticeships 

The Access to Apprenticeships ‘pathway’ was announced in May 2011 and aims to prepare 

young people for an apprenticeship, if they require extra support.46

People on the Access to Apprenticeship pathway do not count as apprentices because they 

are not employed. Rather, they work towards elements of an apprenticeship framework, 

mainly focusing on workplace-based learning. 

41
Ibid

42
 BIS, Press release: PM: We’ll make apprenticeships a gold standard option for ambitious young people, 7

February 2012 
43

 NAS website, Higher apprenticeships, February 2012 
44

 National Apprenticeships Service (NAS), Apprenticeship training agencies, September 2011 
45

 NAS, Testing Alternative Delivery Models, May 2009 
46

 NAS, Access to Apprenticeships, October 2011, 

10



The pathway involves a specific kind of unpaid work experience which focuses on specific 

elements of an apprenticeship framework, for a maximum of six months. The expectation is 

that people on this pathway will begin the full apprenticeship before the end of six months.47

To be eligible for the Access to Apprenticeships pathway, the individual must be: 

 16-24 years old 

 Assessed as able to participate in a full apprenticeship to at least Intermediate Level 

 Either: 

 Have been not in education, employment or training (NEET) for the whole of 

the preceding 13 weeks, or 

 Be eligible for Additional Learning Support 

From August 2011, there will be 10,000 Access to Apprenticeships places available each 

year. Any funding that is required will be from existing apprenticeship budgets. 

4 Statistics

Further information on statistics is available in the Library Standard Note Apprenticeship 

Statistics.

Although the increase in starts in 2010/11 compared to in the previous academic year was 

large, this follows a pattern which has been evident for several years, as the chart below 

shows.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Apprenticeship starts (thousands)
Academic years (Aug 1 - Jul 31)

Source: BIS Data Service; HC Deb 14 Feb c560-1W (PQ38062)
Data prior to 02/03 are not directly comparable to later years

47
 NAS, Access to Apprenticeships pathway: Q and A, October 2011 

11



In the 2010/11 academic year: 

 There were 457,200 apprenticeship starts, compared to 279,700 in 2009/10, an 

increase 54% or 177,510; 

 Much of this increase is due to people aged over 25 starting apprenticeships; 

 A much higher proportion of apprenticeship starters are now aged over 25 compared 

to in previous years; 

 The majority of people starting apprenticeships choose frameworks in the service 

sectors, such as business administration and retail; 

 The majority of apprenticeship starters were female in 2010/11 for the first time.48

Apprenticeship starts in 2009/10 broken down by size of employer are shown below.49

Apprenticeship starts by employer-site size

2009/10 academic year - estimates

Number of 

employees at site Under 19 19 and over Total

1 to 49 47% 36% 41%

50+ 34% 50% 43%

Unknown 19% 14% 16%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Total number of starts 114,000    159,800 273,900

Source:

Notes:

Age based on age at start of programme. .

Proportion of apprenticeship starts

BIS Individualised Learner record, via HC Deb 13 Dec 2010, c586W

Figures based on number of employees at local site level. A 

national employer that has multiple sites across the country may 

therefore be recorded as a site-level employer more than once.

Based on provisional f igures, so totals may differ from other 

published f igures for total number of apprenticeship starts.

Further information on apprenticeships and small businesses is available in the Library 

Standard Note Apprenticeships and small businesses.

12

48
 BIS Data Service, Supplementary Tables on apprenticeships

49
HC Deb 13 Dec 2010, c586W



The Future of 
Apprenticeships in 
England: Next Steps 
from the Richard 
Review

March 2013 

1

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



Contents

Ministerial Foreword.........................................................................................3 
Introduction ......................................................................................................4 
Section 1: The role for Apprenticeships ...........................................................7 

Traineeships.................................................................................................9 
Section 2: Apprenticeship qualifications that employers really value .............10 

Recognised industry standards ..................................................................11 
Qualifications..............................................................................................11 
Standard setting criteria .............................................................................12 
Designing the standards and qualifications ................................................13 
How we will get there .................................................................................13 

Section 3: Improving trust and confidence in the assessment of 
Apprenticeships .............................................................................................15 

Key principles of good assessment ............................................................16 
End point assessment ................................................................................16 
Enhanced employer engagement...............................................................17 
Grading ......................................................................................................17 
Assessment oversight ................................................................................18 

Section 4: English and maths ........................................................................19 
Section 5: Promoting innovative and high quality training..............................21 

Building on what works...............................................................................22 
Safeguarding quality...................................................................................22 

Section 6: Giving employers the purchasing power and incentives to drive 
quality and value ............................................................................................24 
Section 7: Improving awareness and information ..........................................27 

Improving information and boosting awareness .........................................27 
Open data and online information ..............................................................28 
The role of careers information, advice and guidance in schools and other 
settings.......................................................................................................29 
Improving employer links with schools .......................................................29 

Section 8: Equality and diversity ....................................................................31 
Section 9: Timetable and next steps ..............................................................32 
Section 10: Questions....................................................................................33 
Section 11: Responding to this consultation ..................................................35 
Section 12: Confidentiality & data protection .................................................36 
Section 13: Consultation principles ................................................................37 
Annex A: Response Form..............................................................................38 
Annex B: Terms of reference for Richard Review..........................................45 

2



Ministerial Foreword 

There is much to be proud of in Apprenticeships. Apprentices are employed in 
more sectors, with more employers and at more skill levels than ever. 
Apprenticeships deliver excellent returns, enjoy a profile and status not seen 
for many years, and are now being developed at degree level and beyond for 
the first time. We are determined to build on these strengths. 

High quality Apprenticeships offer a powerful tool to help individuals to 
progress and succeed; they help businesses create the skilled workforce 
needed to compete, and equal any in the world. But we must ensure that 
Apprenticeships serve employers in the decades ahead, and bring all up to 
the standards of the best.

Doug Richard has set out a compelling case for reform, to ensure that all 
Apprenticeships are rigorous and responsive to employers’ needs. We are 
grateful for the time and care Doug has taken and for the far reaching 
recommendations he has made. We agree with his assessment and his 
vision.

His recommendations, which are addressed in this document, amount to a 
major programme of reform. They set a clear challenge not just for 
government but for all those involved in Apprenticeships. We agree with Doug 
Richard that we must empower employers and place them at the heart of the 
Apprenticeship system. And we agree that we must set the bar high on 
standards and quality, to deliver Apprenticeships that are truly valued by 
employers and Apprentices alike. The voice of employers is not best 
expressed through representative bodies but by what they are prepared to 
pay for. So we will make these reforms based on rigour and responsiveness.  

In line with the challenge set by Doug Richard, we want to work with 
employers, educators and all those involved in Apprenticeships, to develop 
solutions for the long term. We are at a critical point in developing 
Apprenticeships in England. We strongly encourage you to contribute by 
offering your views on the questions set out in this document.

Matthew Hancock MP 
Minister for Skills 

                        

Rt Hon Michael Gove MP Rt Hon Dr Vince Cable MP                                               
Secretary of State for Education                                Secretary of State for Business      
        Innovation and Skills

                       

3



Introduction

Apprenticeships are central to the government’s drive to raise our nation’s 
skills because we know they work. Throughout history, Apprenticeships have 
supported people learning new trades. With roots extending back over 600 
years, they have certainly stood the test of time. Of course, over time trades 
and job roles have changed, and Apprenticeships must change with them, but 
it remains the case that learning is often most effective whilst doing.

The Apprenticeship programme today delivers strong returns for the 
economy, employers and Apprentices themselves. Put simply, it is a good 
investment for all concerned. A recent study estimates that those undertaking 
Higher Apprenticeships could earn around £150,000 more over their lifetime, 
comparable to the return for the average graduate1.

This is why, despite the most challenging economic times this country has 
faced for generations, we have increased funding for the programme.

We have also taken steps to raise standards and improve the quality of 
Apprenticeships: cracking down on poor provision; strengthening 
requirements on English and maths; and ensuring that every Apprenticeship 
lasts long enough to embed new knowledge and skills in workplace practice.  

At the same time, we have made it easier and more rewarding for employers 
of all sizes to recruit and train Apprentices, encouraged growth in those parts 
of the programme that deliver the most value, and expanded provision at 
higher skill levels. In the last academic year, more Apprentices and employers 
benefited than ever before. Over 200,000 employer workplaces participated, 
and over half a million new Apprenticeships started.  

But Apprenticeships are too important for us to be satisfied with the progress 
made so far. It is for this reason that we invited Doug Richard to look to the 
future and consider how the programme can best meet the needs of the 
changing economy, deliver the consistently high quality training which 
learners and employers demand, and get the best possible value for public 
investment.

1
 ‘University Education: Is this the best route into employment?’ - AAT and CEBR, February 

2013.

4



Doug Richard, entrepreneur, educator and founder of 
School for Startups, was asked by the Education 
Secretary Michael Gove and the Business Secretary 
Vince Cable to consider the future of Apprenticeships in 
England, and to recommend how they can meet the 
needs of the changing economy. The terms of reference 
for the Review are included at Annex B, and the main 
recommendations are set out in the sections of this 
document to which they are most relevant. 

The Richard Review, published in November 2012, makes clear the case for 
further reforms and the direction these should take towards a system that is 
more rigorous and more responsive to employers’ needs. We firmly agree 
with Doug Richard’s assessment of the challenges and opportunities ahead, 
and endorse his vision for the future of Apprenticeships and the key steps we 
will need to take to get there. 

The Richard Review argues that Apprenticeships should be redefined, to 
focus where they can add most value, to strengthen the brand and to raise 
our level of ambition. It recommends sharp emphasis on quality and rigour, so 
that training is trusted and transferable. It reminds us that at their core 
Apprenticeships must be about the relationship between an employer and an 
Apprentice, and challenges us to put employers at the heart of the system’s 
design and delivery. And it recommends that government should focus on 
outcomes – what Apprentices can do at the end of their Apprenticeships – 
and free up the process by which Apprentices get there. We accept the 
Review’s recommendations to reform Apprenticeships in pursuit of these core 
principles.

In setting out our plans, we are also drawing on the advice of others who have 
helped improve and shape the direction of the Apprenticeship programme, 
and who continue to do so. They include those contributing to the Richard 
Review itself, as well as those who have provided advice more directly, such 
as Professor Alison Wolf for her examination of vocational training for young 
people and entrepreneur Jason Holt for his review into supporting smaller 
businesses. Further important contributions have been made by Michael 
Heseltine in looking at the role of skills in wealth creation; by the Business 
Innovation and Skills Select Committee in its 2012 Report on Apprenticeships; 
and by the National Audit Office in its examination last year of the adult 
programme.

Informed by these contributions and other evidence, this document sets out 
the government’s vision for the future of Apprenticeships in England.  We 
describe the principles we believe to be important and our priorities for reform 
and, at a high level, the approach we propose to deliver these. We do so both 
to confirm the direction we wish to take and to inform and stimulate a wide 
public consultation on implementation. The reforms set out here are long-term 
and they are bold. The pace and detail of delivery must be shaped by the 

5



6

employers, educators and individuals on whom the Apprenticeship system 
depends.

As we seek to improve Apprenticeships we must recognise and strengthen 
the good practice that already exists, and ensure that all rise to the standard 
of the best. Our vision builds on the steps already taken, for example to 
improve quality.

The reforms will not be easy but the rewards for employers, individuals and 
the future workforce mean they are worth pursuing. In the spirit of partnership 
that will be key to their success, we invite views on the approach that is set 
out in this document, and in particular on the questions highlighted.



Section 1: The role for Apprenticeships 

“We know that an Apprenticeship model delivers the most value when it 
involves sustained and substantial training, fully and closely integrated within 
the experience of learning and practising a real job.”

“We cannot expect Apprenticeships to be well regarded if we do not make it 
clear what they stand for.”

Richard Review recommendation  

Apprenticeships should be redefined:

o they should be targeted at those new to a job or role 

o suitable jobs will require sustained and substantial training 

o the government should introduce a separate programme for 
employability skills 

o training and accreditation of those already fully competent in their jobs 
should be delivered separately 

An important step already taken by government has been to adopt the 
principle that an Apprenticeship must involve a real job. It should not simply 
be a package of mainly classroom-based vocational study, as has sometimes 
previously been the case. It is a vital principle we believe should continue.  

We agree with Doug Richard that Apprenticeships should be designed for and 
targeted at people starting a new job role or occupation, so as to train them in 
the skills needed for that job and to provide a springboard for their future 
careers. This is not a narrow definition. It includes offering a ladder of 
opportunity to help people advance within their existing employment, where 
the Apprenticeship is firmly focused on training them to do a higher skilled job. 
Most important for Apprentices and employers alike is that substantial 
learning takes place, with the application and practice of new knowledge and 
skills in a real workplace.  

For young people in particular, Apprenticeships are an ideal way both to earn 
and learn. But individuals of all ages can benefit. Few people today are settled 
in jobs for life. There is an increasing need, and opportunity, for many to 
consider and adapt to new career directions. Apprenticeships can support 
this, helping people adjust to the rapidly changing skills needs of a modern 
economy.

7



8

For those already experienced and competent in their roles, Apprenticeships 
will not be the right approach, unless they are advancing to a substantially 
higher skilled role.  Where people have existing skills they want recognised, 
we believe that they should still have the opportunity to test themselves 
against new competency standards via other non-Apprenticeship routes.

At whatever age, an Apprenticeship must enable an individual to gain both the 
skills to excel at their current job and the core competences to apply these 
skills to other jobs in their sector. Every Apprenticeship should also relate to a 
real job role, not simply train an individual in a generic set of skills. 

We believe it is for employers to define the standards and scope of learning 
required for each job role or occupation. This is considered in detail in later 
sections. Government’s role is to set the broader criteria for standards, taking 
account of the public investment being made. In all cases and in every sector, 
an Apprenticeship must involve substantial training, over an extended period. 
This should go significantly beyond that typically offered by an employer to all 
new members of staff. 

Whatever the starting point for the Apprentice, and often this will be from a 
low base, the standards to which they are being trained must be broad and 
stretching, and the core skills acquired must be recognised as transferable by 
other employers in their sector.

Compared with some Apprenticeships today, the new standards will be more 
challenging and ambitious. Often they may take longer to achieve. But the 
value of the outcome to both Apprentices and employers will be greater. 
Apprenticeships may be defined at any level, so long as broader criteria for 
standards set by government are met. The level should be based on what the 
job role requires, as determined by employers. Apprenticeships should never 
be just a staging post, with full competency requiring further training, skills or 
experience. We would expect Apprenticeships at level 2 to continue, where 
this is the outcome of the standard-setting process employers have led, and 
where the breadth and stretch of skill required for that job role makes it 
suitable for an Apprenticeship. However, we envisage that more 
Apprenticeships will target achievement to level 3 or higher than do today, 
and we hope to see significant growth continue at level 4 and above.    

For individuals in low skilled jobs, which do not require substantial training 
over an extended period, Apprenticeships will not be suitable. People in this 
situation will be entitled to extensive training from the Further Education (FE) 
system more widely. This includes support for training in English and maths 
and for their first level 2 or level 3 qualification. This, together with the work 
experience they are gaining in their job, will help prepare them to apply for 
higher skilled Apprenticeships. 



Traineeships

Apprenticeships, combined with the introduction of study programmes for 
those aged 16 to 19, are at the heart of our drive to equip people with the 
skills that employers need.

We recognise however that some young people need more help with the 
transition from school to work. Employers consistently express concern that 
young people often lack the right skills and attitudes when they apply for 
Apprenticeships or other jobs. Sometimes they may just need the chance to 
prove themselves to an employer.

We therefore agree with the Richard recommendation that the government 
should introduce a new scheme, alongside Apprenticeships, to help young 
people develop the employability skills and experience of work needed to get 
a good job or Apprenticeship. As we improve Apprenticeships for those able 
to secure them, through our new plans for Traineeships we are giving the 
additional help some young people need to take advantage of these.

Starting later this year, Traineeships will offer unemployed people aged 16 to 
24 years a combination of extended work placements, work skills training, 
English and maths, and other support suited to individual needs. They will 
help young people prepare for Apprenticeships and other employment 
opportunities.

We will say more on Traineeships in the updated national skills strategy we 
plan to publish shortly.

Question 1: How can we ensure that every Apprenticeship delivers 
substantial new skills? 

9



Section 2: Apprenticeship qualifications that 
employers really value 

“We need clear, effective and trusted Apprenticeship qualifications. The 
solution lies in shifting the power over designing and developing these to 
employers in a far more direct and transparent way… whilst giving 
Government a clearer role in defining what a good quality standard looks like.” 

Richard Review recommendation   

The focus of Apprenticeships should be on the outcome:

o recognised industry standards should be at the heart of every Apprenticeship. 
They should set out what Apprentices must know and be able to do, at the 
end of their Apprenticeship, at a high level which is meaningful and relevant 
for employers

o these standards should form the basis for new Apprenticeship qualifications 
to replace Apprenticeship frameworks, the current qualifications which 
comprise them and the national occupational standards which underpin them 

o there should be one Apprenticeship qualification for each occupation 
associated with an Apprenticeship.  Apprentices should not complete a 
package of qualifications; nor should there be multiple competing 
qualifications per job role  

o Apprenticeships should link to standards for professional registration where 
these exist and are well-recognised  

The Government should set up a contest for the best Apprenticeship 
qualification:

o individual employers, employer partnerships or other organisations with 
relevant expertise to be invited to design and develop meaningful 
Apprenticeship qualifications for their sectors 

o the selection of the ‘best’ qualification for an occupation should be based on 
Government-set criteria for identifying what good looks like

o the criteria should ensure that the qualification is ambitious and stretching, 
delivers transferable skills and has significant buy-in amongst employers, 
including small ones

We firmly agree with Doug Richard that employers must be genuinely at the 
centre of designing Apprenticeship standards and qualifications, and that 
these should be focused on the outcome. We also agree that to achieve this 
will require a major overhaul in the structure of current Apprenticeships, the 
qualifications which comprise them and the occupational standards which 
underpin them.

10



Recognised industry standards 

We agree with the Review that every Apprenticeship should be based on 
industry standards that are widely recognised, easy to understand and trusted 
by employers. These should describe what an employer requires from a fully 
competent Apprentice at the end of their training. They should focus, in broad 
terms, on what is needed to demonstrate mastery of an occupation, not 
competence in a series of narrowly defined tasks.  

This approach differs from today’s system, in which Apprenticeship 
frameworks list qualifications that Apprentices must work through but do not 
set out holistically the knowledge and skills needed to demonstrate full 
competence in the job. It differs too from the approach taken for qualifications 
within current Apprenticeships, and by the National Occupational Standards 
on which they are based. The Review argues that these are too narrow and 
detailed to be meaningful to employers, or to capture what employers really 
look for in new employees. The current approach encourages a focus on 
evidencing that an individual has, at one point in time, undertaken a series of 
discrete tasks, rather than on teaching an individual to do a whole job and on 
assessing this. 

We agree that the responsibility for designing standards rightly sits with 
employers. The government cannot determine the standards or skills needed 
for all occupations; nor should it try to.

Qualifications

For each occupation or major job role we recognise the strong arguments set 
out in the Review that there should be a single standard set, defining the core 
knowledge and skills required. This could maximise recognition, consistency 
and transferability, and make it easier to assure that quality is maintained. For 
similar reasons, there is a strong case for a single qualification associated 
with this standard.

We recognise that for some sectors the nature of individual jobs and skills 
needs may vary significantly between employers, even for job roles that are 
nominally the same. The solution we adopt will need to take account of this. It 
could be addressed through a ‘core and options’ approach for each standard 
and qualification, increasing their flexibility for different settings and contexts 
while ensuring a rigorous core of essential knowledge and skills.     

It would also be possible to agree a single standard but retain a market in 
qualifications to test against it. However, if we were to do this, it would be 
critical to avoid re-creating the situation that is sometimes the case now, with 
many different versions of qualifications competing not on rigour but on ease 
of completion and price, thus lowering standards in the process. The effect 
would be to undermine trust and transferability in any new system, as it has 
for some employers in the current one. 

11



12

Whether or not we retain a market in qualifications to certify the standard, we 
agree with Doug Richard that there are strong arguments for Apprentices 
taking just one, overarching qualification. This would certify their achievement 
of the full standard and demonstrate how learning and practice across the 
Apprenticeship had been retained and their ability to apply this. This would be 
more valuable and transferable than a package of narrower qualifications. 
Only by limited exception would Apprentices gain credit separately and more 
swiftly for smaller qualifications. For example, where these are pre-requisites 
for the job, such as in food hygiene or fork lift truck operation, and where such 
qualifications might in practice be essential additions to the Apprenticeship 
training itself.

Standard setting criteria

The role for government is to ensure that Apprenticeships are high quality, 
with sufficient stretch and breadth of learning to justify public investment. This 
includes assuring the rigour of the standards on which they are based, and of 
the qualifications that link to these. We therefore agree with the review that 
the government should set the criteria against which standards are 
developed.  

Doug Richard has suggested that the criteria below be the basis for setting 
standards.  We would welcome views on whether these are right, and whether 
there is anything that should be added or removed. He proposes that the new 
standards, and the Apprenticeships to which they relate, should: 

o be stretching 

o deliver transferable skills 

o have significant buy-in across the sector, including from small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), and be deliverable by small 
employers 

o require substantial training and take more than a matter of months for 
an Apprentice to become competent at – involving training significantly 
beyond that offered to all new staff 

o include skills which are relevant and valuable beyond just the current 
job, supporting progression within the sector 

He has also proposed, and we agree, that in sectors where professional 
registration exists and is well recognised, Apprenticeships should provide the 
training, experience and other requirements needed to achieve this.



Designing the standards and qualifications 

The Review recommends that the government should run a contest to select 
the standards for each occupation, inviting individual employers, employer 
partnerships and/or other professional organisations to compete to develop 
these.

We agree that a competitive process to set standards would have many 
benefits. It could maximise the recognition and transferability of the winning 
standard, and encourage competition based on quality. It would also offer a 
transparent and objective process through which the government could 
engage with employers to define the occupations and major job roles within 
their sector for which separate standards are needed.

At the same time, we accept, as Doug Richard highlights, that the ability of 
different sectors to respond to the challenge of a competition and to develop 
standards meeting the full range of criteria will vary. The approach could also 
mean rejecting some standards that comfortably met the criteria but were not 
selected, potentially working against the broad support envisaged for the 
winning standard, if a single standard for each occupation or major job role is 
adopted. Placing strong emphasis on evidence of significant buy-in across the 
sector as a selection criterion would help to mitigate this, together with the 
‘core and options’ approach described above. Doug Richard has suggested 
that, at the outset, government might need to help employers to come 
together to develop the new standards, at least in some sectors, and we 
agree.

We will take further time to consider the most appropriate process, and would 
welcome views on how best to bring employers together to design the new 
standards and associated qualifications.

Once standards are agreed, which would be for a defined period, it will be 
important for the employers that developed these to keep under review 
whether they continue to be appropriate or need updating.

How we will get there 

We would welcome views on how best to create a system that empowers 
employers to design the high quality standards that work for them, supported 
by qualifications that are widely recognised and valued.

We do not underestimate the scale of the reforms to standards and 
qualifications that we are proposing. Designing and implementing these 
reforms will need careful planning and partnership. We will set out a timetable 
for the transition later this year, in light of further work and responses to the 
questions set out in this document.   

13



14

We would also welcome views on how best to manage the transition to new 
qualifications and standards.  For example, in the short term there may be 
merit in reviewing existing frameworks, and/or the qualifications contained 
within these, to remove those that employers do not value or that are furthest 
away from the new expectations for Apprenticeships.

In moving to the new standards, we envisage a staged roll-out across sectors. 
Some sectors will be better prepared to respond sooner than others, perhaps 
building on partnerships cemented through the Employer Ownership of Skills 
pilot or other sectoral partnerships. In others, the case for pursuing the new 
approach more rapidly may be particularly strong. Staged roll-out will also 
enable us to learn from the early pathfinders. 

Question 2: How should we invite and enable employers to come 
together to design new standards for Apprenticeships?  

Question 3: What are your views on the proposed criteria for 
Apprenticeship standards as set out above? 

Question 4: Should there be only one standard per Apprentice 
occupation/job role? 

Question 5: Should there be only one qualification per standard? 

Question 6: How should we manage the transition from the current 
system of Apprenticeship frameworks to a new system of employer-
designed Apprenticeship standards and qualifications? 

Question 7: How can we make sure that the new standards stay relevant 
to employers, and are not compromised over time? 



Section 3: Improving trust and confidence in the 
assessment of Apprenticeships 

“Continuous and time consuming assessment, driven by paper-based tests, 
accumulated ‘evidence’ and assessors with a vested interest in Apprentices 
passing the test, demeans the Apprentice’s accomplishment.” 

“The final test and validation must…test the full breadth of the relevant 
competencies not merely the incremental progression of the Apprentice.” 

Richard Review recommendation  

The testing and validation process should be independent and genuinely 
respected by industry: 

o the test should be holistic, at the end, and assess whether the individual is 
fully competent and employable, within their job and their sector 

o organisations with the right expertise should be responsible for assessment 
and making sure Apprentices are tested consistently against the specified 
standard. Where possible, assessment oversight and delivery should be 
done in collaboration with the qualification designers 

o assessors must be entirely independent, with no incentive or disincentive 
related to the outcome.  Employers should be directly involved as well as 
educators

o the government, a government body or regulator should approve and 
oversee the assessment process, or the organisations in charge of that 
process, in a light touch way

It is vital that employers trust the qualifications Apprentices take. The steps 
set out in Section 2 to ensure stretching standards and qualifications defined 
by employers will help to build this trust. But if employers do not also have 
confidence in the assessments carried out to verify the achievement of 
standards, then the value of any qualifications will be undermined. 

We agree with the Review that we must reform assessment so that it is more 
independent and more trusted by employers. There must be no incentive to 
pass individuals who are not sufficiently competent.  

We also firmly agree that the main assessment of an Apprentice’s 
competence should take place largely at the end, consistent with the 
outcome-based standards that are proposed. Only then is it possible to certify 
final achievement against the full range of skills and competencies required. 

15



Key principles of good assessment 

As the Review sets out, the main principles of assessment in any education or 
training system are independence, consistency and the maintenance of 
standards over time.

Independent assessment will be demonstrably objective, separated from any 
individual or organisation with an incentive for whether the individual passes 
or fails. This might be achieved, for example, by ensuring that assessment is 
fully independent of training delivery. Or, where this is not possible, through 
robust arrangements for independent verification to ensure objectivity is 
maintained.

Consistency means that the outcome should not vary between different 
settings, workplaces or areas. For example, it is important that an employer in 
Kent recruiting a carpenter who served his or her Apprenticeship in 
Northumberland can be assured that the candidate has the core skills needed 
for the role.

Effective and trusted oversight of the assessment system as a whole is also 
important, to ensure that the above requirements are met and that standards 
are maintained over time. 

End point assessment 

Apprenticeships today, as a result of the qualifications they contain, often 
focus heavily on continuous assessment. This can be at the expense of new 
teaching and learning. Indeed, some Apprentices tell us that their 
Apprenticeship experience has been dominated by assessment alone.
Re-focusing on assessment at the end will allow trainers to spend more time 
teaching, not testing. 

Synoptic, end point assessment means that an Apprentice will need to be 
able to demonstrate the full range of skills, competency and knowledge 
required to meet the standard, putting different strands of learning together 
and applying these in different contexts. The nature of the final assessment 
will vary for each occupation, reflecting the nature of the work involved. As 
Doug Richard suggests, this might itself comprise a series of tests and 
practical tasks undertaken over several days or weeks. Of key importance is 
that future employers trust the process as a meaningful and reliable test of an 
Apprentice’s ability to do the job fully, including in new and different contexts.   

This does not imply an end to all interim assessment. Reviews of progress by 
trainers to assess skills and knowledge gained will remain good practice as 
part of training. But such reviews would not be accredited and would be 
separate to the final, independent assessment of full competence. 

16



Enhanced employer engagement 

We agree with the Review that increased involvement by employers in 
assessment will help to build trust in the credibility and rigour of the process. 
In pursuing this, we will need to ensure that we do not ask more from 
employers than they have the capacity to do. This capacity is likely to vary 
between sectors and occupations. However we believe that in all sectors 
employers have an essential role not just in developing standards but also in 
overseeing the design and development of the assessment process to verify 
these.

The Review proposes too that employers should have a more direct role in 
assessing Apprenticeships. We are keen to explore how this might be 
achieved in practice, without placing undue burden on employers and while 
recognising the expertise required of professional assessors. The role of such 
professionals will continue to be important.

We propose therefore to include assessment as a further area to be 
considered by those developing Apprenticeship standards. Employers would 
be invited to set out what an effective test of competency against the 
standards they wish to set would be, and how the arrangements for its 
delivery might work. 

The Review also proposes that the Apprentice’s employer be asked to confirm 
that he or she has demonstrated the necessary level of competency and 
experience in the workplace, as a pre-cursor to taking the final, independent 
assessment. This would reinforce the centrality of the employer role in 
Apprenticeship delivery and in assessing the impact of training in the 
workplace. We agree this is a sensible step and would welcome wider views 
on how it might work.

The government is consulting separately on proposals to reform qualification 
accountability measures for 16 to 19 year-olds2.  As part of this we are 
seeking views on how awarding organisations can best support training
providers to engage employers in the delivery and assessment of 
qualifications locally. We will take the responses to that consultation into 
account as we develop our approach for Apprenticeships 

Grading 

We believe that there is a strong case to apply grading to Apprenticeship 
qualifications, to maximise their usefulness in the labour market and as an 
incentive to strive for excellence. We know from competitions such as World 
Skills that defining excellence in vocational education helps to drive ambition.  

2

Government proposal to reform vocational qualifications for 16-19 year olds 

http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/1/16%2019%20vq%20reform%20consultation%20docm

ent%20v3.pdfument%20v3.pdf 

17



Current occupational qualifications use a wide variety of grading approaches. 
Most assess purely on a pass or fail basis but some distinguish between 
different levels of achievement. We will welcome views in particular from 
employers on the appropriateness of grading for their sector, and how this 
might work as part of standard setting and assessment. 

Assessment oversight 

We agree with the Review that the government, a government body or 
regulator should approve and oversee the assessment process as a whole, or 
the organisations in charge of that process, and that they should do so in a 
proportionate way. This oversight will protect both the learner and employer.
Oversight in the current system is through the regulation by Ofqual of 
awarding organisations. We would want to ensure a clear and fully effective 
line of accountability for any new qualifications, in order to demonstrably 
maintain standards over time. Employers or professional bodies may also 
have a role in overseeing the assessment process in their sectors. 

Next steps 

Taken together, these reforms set a challenging agenda, to transform from 
the system we have now in which continuous, incremental provider-led 
assessment is the norm, and employer influence or oversight of the 
assessment process is often minimal.

There are many different ways by which the Review’s principles could be 
applied. Further work is needed to explore possible approaches, to ensure 
that the full implications of any proposals, including in terms of deliverability 
and cost, are clear.

We are therefore seeking your views on how we can best deliver improved 
assessment, based on the principles set out.

Question 8: How can we ensure that employers are better engaged with 
the development and oversight of the assessment in Apprenticeships?

Question 9: How could employers best be involved in the practical 
delivery of assessment?  

Question 10: How can the independence and consistency of assessment 
in Apprenticeships be further improved? 

Question 11: How should we implement end point assessment for 
Apprenticeships?

Question 12: How should we implement grading for Apprenticeship 
qualifications?

18



Section 4: English and maths 

“Apprenticeships should attract some of the best students, including those 
who have already excelled in maths and English at school. But, for those who 
have not yet reached a good level by the time they start…achieving a good 
level of maths and English, a more stretching level than many Apprentices 
currently attain, should be a pre-requisite for completion.” 

Richard Review recommendation

All Apprentices should have achieved level 2 in English and maths before they 
can complete their Apprenticeship:

o maths and English taught within Apprenticeships should be sufficiently 
functional in approach to be suitable for an Apprenticeship context  

We share Doug Richard’s ambition that all Apprentices should be supported 
to achieve Level 2 qualifications in English and maths, and are committed to 
progressing towards this. 

Skills in English and maths provide a foundation for progression in all 
occupations. Those less able in these subjects will find many doors closed to 
them.  This is why, from August 2012, all Apprentices have been offered 
training to work towards level 2 qualifications in these subjects where they 
have not achieved one or both previously. To support this, in 2012/13 we 
doubled the funding available for English and maths training for adult 
Apprentices, and raised this substantially for those under 19.

From August 2014, we will go further by requiring that all Apprentices who 
begin their Apprenticeship with only level 1 qualifications in English and/or 
maths take up the current offer and work towards level 2 during their 
Apprenticeship. This will align with a similar strengthening of requirements for 
those aged 16 to 19 undertaking study programmes. At this interim stage, 
however, Apprentices will not need to have achieved level 2 in order to 
successfully complete their Apprenticeship.    

For those who begin without level 1 qualifications in English and/or maths, the 
requirement, as now, will be to attain level 1 in both subjects to complete their 
Apprenticeship. Providers will be expected to then offer level 2 training once 
level 1 has been achieved.

In future years we want to go further, so that all Apprentices achieve these 
critical qualifications as a core part of their Apprenticeship, as Doug Richard 
recommends and as is the case in some other Apprenticeship systems.  

19



20

This strengthening of ambition reflects the increased status and more rigorous 
standards we envisage for future Apprenticeships, to offer a recognised 
pathway to high value jobs and successful careers for people of all abilities.   

We recognise that this is a stretching goal and may take time to achieve, 
given the large numbers of individuals entering Apprenticeships today without 
this level of attainment. However we believe it is right to ensure that every 
Apprenticeship equips the Apprentice not just for their current job but to 
progress within and beyond their current sector.

For some people this will present a major challenge. For example, those with 
learning disabilities or who have low initial attainment in these subjects. We 
will continue to explore how best to support such individuals, including by 
extending best practices in teaching, and consider carefully how the transition 
to higher standards should be managed and its timing.

We will also consider how to ensure that the Apprenticeship system 
recognises the needs of those who have high potential but may have further 
to travel in these particular areas, so that providers or employers are not 
deterred from recruiting them.    

Question 13: What are the specific obstacles to all Apprentices 
achieving level 2 English and maths as part of their Apprenticeship, and 
how could these be overcome?

Question 14: How would a requirement to have all Apprentices achieve 
level 2 in English and maths impact on employers, providers and 
potential learners? What are the risks and potential solutions?



Section 5: Promoting innovative and high 
quality training 

“Different people learn in different ways…We must let competing educators, 
public and private, innovate and explore to find the best ways to get our 
Apprentices to the level of competency that the standard defines.” 

Richard Review recommendation 

The government should encourage diversity and innovation in delivering 
Apprenticeships: 

o there should be no unnecessary process and prescription for how an 
Apprentice reaches the desired outcome, but rather many paths and 
approaches. 

The government has a role in promoting good quality delivery: 

o the government should help promote good practice 

o some off-site learning and a minimum duration for Apprenticeships should be 
mandatory

o safeguards must protect Apprentices and employers against poor quality 
provision. The government should ensure that an effective, light touch 
approval process exists that confirms training organisations are providing 
good quality, relevant training for the sector. 

With clear and holistic standards agreed for each occupation, and a shift 
towards assessment at the end, we can liberate our professional trainers to 
do what they do best: to teach and to train.

We strongly agree with the Review that every Apprenticeship should at its 
heart be about a relationship between an individual employer and individual 
learner. So the shape of every Apprenticeship journey should be different. An 
Apprenticeship should not be something taken ‘off the shelf’ by a provider, or 
something prescribed by government. Every job, every workplace, and every 
individual learner is different. So it should be up to employers, together with 
training providers and learners, to shape the learning journey themselves, and 
we should minimise the things that get in their way. As Doug Richard argues, 
government’s role should be primarily to help ensure quality outcomes, not to 
prescribe processes. 

We will therefore encourage greater innovation and dynamism in training 
delivery, with more entrants to the market bringing fresh ideas and 
approaches, and spurring existing providers to respond similarly.

The reforms we are making to Apprenticeship qualifications, focusing on final 
competency and freeing up the journey to achieving this, will give greater 
scope to train in more flexible ways. The approach set out in previous 

21



sections will see the increasing removal of the detailed prescription and 
incremental assessment that many Apprenticeships involve today. 

As a further step we will explore what additional support the government 
might take to spur innovation, including to help spread good practice and to 
take full advantage of the opportunities offered by new technologies.
A major impetus for innovation will also come from the increasingly central 
role envisaged for employers and Apprentices in driving the market for 
training. The Review’s proposals set out in the next section to reform funding 
would play a major part in this, together with improved information to help 
employers to shop around.

Building on what works

There are some features of Apprenticeships today that we know help ensure 
effective training and a high quality experience. This is why we agree the 
recommendation to continue to require that Apprenticeships last at least a 
year, to give time for new learning to embed and for Apprentices to become 
fully competent and confident in their roles. Very often Apprenticeships will 
last much longer.

We also recognise the benefits for Apprentices of having sufficient time to 
learn and reflect well away from their ‘day job’, and share Doug Richard’s 
concerns that many Apprentices today lack sufficient time away from their 
workplace and off-site. This brings the opportunity for additional training, and 
gives the time and space to gain fresh perspectives and consolidate learning. 
Further benefits can come from shared learning with other Apprentices. We 
would welcome views on the best way to ensure this is a core component of 
every Apprenticeship, without undermining employers’ ability to shape each 
Apprenticeship as they see fit. 

Safeguarding quality 

At the same time as increasing choice and diversity of provision, we agree 
that employers should be able to trust that basic safeguards on training quality 
are in place. They should have some assurance of the quality, capability and 
legitimacy of training providers that they may wish to deal with. We recognise 
that the government will continue to have an important role in this area. For 
the market to operate effectively, employers also need to be able to compare 
between providers of the particular training they are seeking, to be confident 
that an approved provider is up to the task and to be able to judge between 
adequacy and excellence.  

The Skills Funding Agency undertakes due diligence checks to assess the 
financial credentials, capacity and any Ofsted inspection record of all training 
providers receiving public funding. We will build on these arrangements to 
ensure that, as far as possible, they are an effective assurance of training 

22



23

quality as well as financial health, and that this information is accessible to 
employers to help support their choice of provider. 

We are also developing the concept of ‘chartered’ status for colleges and 
training providers. Wide-ranging criteria would include the need to 
demonstrate the responsiveness of providers to employers and local 
enterprise partnerships in their area. The chartered status logo would offer a 
visible symbol for employers of a high quality and responsive provider.  

Alongside these routes, we agree with Doug Richard that voluntary, employer 
led kitemarking could play a role in helping employers find the right 
occupation-specific training. We believe it is for industry and professional 
bodies in each sector to judge this, and to develop and implement any 
schemes they believe appropriate. The aim would be to guide employers 
towards those providers with a strong record and offering good service in their 
particular area.  Such kitemarking could also drive quality improvements.

A number of models are possible, and it may often be that the best approach 
will differ between sectors. However, if there is strong support for kitemarking 
in a number of sectors, we believe there may be a case for an overarching 
framework and branding to reduce the scope for confusion and burdens on 
providers. We would welcome views on this.

Question 15: What further steps, by government or others, could 
encourage greater diversity and innovation in training delivery to help 
Apprentices reach the standards that employers have set? 

Question 16: What approach would work best to ensure Apprentices 
benefit from time to train and reflect away from their day to day 
workplace?  

Question 17: Should off-site learning be made mandatory? 

Question 18: How can the process for approving training providers be 
improved, to help employers find high quality, relevant training?  

Question 19: Do you believe that a kitemarking scheme for your sector 
or profession would add value and be supported? 



Section 6: Giving employers the purchasing 
power and incentives to drive quality and value 

“Employers are best placed to judge the quality and relevance of training and 
demand the highest possible standards from training organisations. To 
become real consumers of training, employers should have control of 
Government funding and, also, contribute themselves to the cost.”

Richard Review recommendation 

Government funding must create the right incentives for Apprenticeship 
training:

o government should contribute to the cost, but employers should have direct 
purchasing power to ensure relevance and drive up quality 

o the price for Apprenticeship training should be free to respond to and reflect 
employer demand 

o government should contribute only towards training to reach the industry 
agreed standard. Payment to be partly linked to the Apprentice passing the 
test

o preferred approach is that the government funds Apprenticeships through 
National Insurance or the tax system – ideally through a tax credit, similar to 
the R&D tax credit

o the funding system should be kept simple and accessible, including for small 
firms

o government should consider varying how much it pays for training – and 
potentially how and when it makes the payment - according to the size of the 
firm and age of the Apprentice.

Creating the right incentives for Apprenticeship 
training

Apprenticeships are a joint investment. It is right that the cost be shared 
between Apprentices, their employers and the government, reflecting the 
benefits to each:

o The individual benefits from new transferable skills and increased 
lifetime earnings, and so may contribute to the cost of training, for 
example by accepting a reduced wage during training. 

o The employer benefits from a more productive workforce with lower 
staff turnover, and so should pay wages, provide on-the-job training 
and support, and contribute to the costs of training; 

24



o Society and the economy as a whole benefit from Apprenticeships, so 
it is right that the government continues to contribute towards their 
cost.

We recognise the value of the key principles put forward by Doug Richard to 
underpin our future approach, which are that: 

o The employer is the customer: Positioning the employer as the 
customer increases providers’ incentives to respond to businesses’ 
needs. This means employers should be the main purchasers of 
training from training providers.   

o The employer co-invests: By making a direct financial contribution 
towards the cost of training, employers have stronger incentives to 
demand relevant, high-quality training of good value. 

o Government does not set the price of training: Freeing the price of 
training from public control and having it determined between 
employers and providers will help to prioritise learning that delivers 
most value. 

o Government funding is linked to achievement of transferable skills: 
Payment is partly linked to the achievement of the Apprenticeship, to 
provide incentives for individuals to succeed. And government supports 
only training that is transferable and that supports the Apprentice in 
reaching the agreed standard. 

o The funding system should encourage employers to get involved: It
must be simple and accessible, and must actively encourage the 
expansion of high quality Apprenticeships, by encouraging employers 
and individuals to participate, rather than deterring them.

o Apprenticeship support must be affordable and deliver value for 
money: By freeing the price, incentivising the employer to drive value, 
linking government funding to the achievement of transferable skills 
and raising standards across the programme, this will deliver improved 
value-for-money. Support for Apprenticeships must also be affordable 
within the government’s spending plans.

Funding reform impacts on the other recommendations proposed by Doug 
Richard. It provides strong incentives for employers to engage in the design, 
development and assessment of Apprenticeships, as well as giving them the 
flexibility to choose the training their Apprentices need to get them to the 
standard.

These principles are currently being tested through the Employer Ownership 
Pilot, from which we will learn more about the issues, benefits and challenges 
as these progress. Looking beyond the current pilots, we will explore options 
for addressing the principles articulated by Doug Richard. This will take 
account both of how well different approaches could support our goals for 

25



these reforms and the practical and cost implications for individuals, 
employers and the government. We recognise too that Local Enterprise 
Partnerships have an important role in supporting employers and in 
encouraging the responsiveness of local training provision to meet employer 
needs.

In considering these reforms, we will continue to be mindful of the need to 
fund younger Apprentices at a higher level, and to recognise the greater 
needs of smaller businesses in employing Apprentices.

26



Section 7: Improving awareness and 
information

“Improving quality, value and relevance will not be enough on its own to 
significantly boost awareness and demand…. direct steps to increase these 
will be needed.”

Richard Review recommendation

Learners and employers need access to good quality information: 

o government and other relevant data sources to be made open and accessible 
in simple language and formats, so that others can connect it together to 
generate products that present data in meaningful, innovative and accessible 
ways

Government must actively boost awareness of the new Apprenticeship model. 

o the government should take an education (not sales) based approach to help 
employers understand how to take on an Apprentice and why it’s worthwhile 

o those setting Apprenticeship standards should be encouraged to actively 
promote that standard across their sector 

o the government, through its own web-based and other careers advice 
services, should ensure that the Apprenticeship route is offered as a genuine 
and valuable pathway to a successful career

o new ways to bring employers and prospective learners together should be 
promoted

o more effort should be made to ensure that schools and teachers, parents and 
all those who inform and guide young people have a better understanding of 
what a high quality Apprenticeship can offer 

o the government and others should support employer links into schools, to 
raise awareness of Apprenticeships and other work-based learning 
opportunities, including through an Apprenticeship ‘milk round’ 

Improving information and boosting awareness

High quality, accessible information is essential to promote choice and 
increase awareness of Apprenticeships. This is the focus of much current 
activity, for example through the National Apprenticeship Service online 
vacancy database and their networks of ambassadors and via the National 
Careers Service.

27



We agree with Doug Richard the need to get smarter and more ambitious in 
how we ensure employers, individuals and others learn about the benefits of 
Apprenticeships and about specific opportunities. This includes making the 
fullest use of new technologies. 

As we improve the quality of Apprenticeships, we must ensure that young 
people in particular, and their parents and teachers, view Apprenticeships as 
a visible and valued pathway to a rewarding career. Too often today it is seen 
to be of lower status than other academic options. Yet Apprenticeships offer 
pathways into highly skilled and often well-paid jobs across the economy, 
from science and engineering to accountancy, and from technicians to 
management.  With Higher Apprenticeship opportunities rapidly expanding up 
to postgraduate level, and Apprenticeships increasingly leading to 
professional registration, we must ensure that they attract the profile and 
standing they deserve.

To help to achieve this, Doug Richard, as well as Jason Holt in his recent 
work on improving SME engagement with Apprenticeships, highlighted the 
importance of peer networks and of support and mentoring services, 
particularly for SMEs.  We agree and are working with employer organisations 
and other partners to establish how best to extend this.

In addition, with the increasing leadership roles envisaged for employer and 
professional organisations, we believe these will be well placed to educate 
about Apprenticeships both within their sector and beyond.

Open data and online information 

The government has a particular responsibility to make the data it collects 
easily available for others to make good use of. This is an area in which we 
recognise we can do better, and we agree the emphasis that Doug Richard 
has placed on this. 

Our digital strategy signals our intent to do more to harness the creativity and 
innovation of the private sector, to develop tools and services that maximise 
the value of government data. To support this, data.gov.uk provides a portal 
for open access to government datasets. One initiative, by the UK 
Commission for Employment and Skills, “LMI for All”, is making large scale 
labour market data open access, aiming for a first release in May 2013. 

Prompted by the challenge Doug Richard has set us, we are conducting a 
short review into open data with a focus on FE datasets.

We agree the importance of improving web-based information. The National 
Apprenticeship Service and the National Careers Service websites are 
currently both undergoing review and improvement. For these and other 
websites, this must be part of an ongoing process as technologies and 
people’s expectations of online services continue to advance.

28



Websites and social media offer a particular and unique opportunity to 
communicate with young people directly, and we need to make sure we use 
them well.

The role of careers information, advice and guidance 
in schools and other settings 

Since September 2012, there has been a statutory duty on schools to secure 
access to independent and impartial careers guidance on the full range of 
post-16 education and training options, including Apprenticeships. The duty 
currently applies to years 9-11 and will be extended to years 8-13 from 
September 2013, to ensure that young people get the advice they need at key 
transition points. An equivalent requirement will be extended to 16 to 18  
year-olds in colleges through funding agreements.

We are committed to ensuring this duty is met. To help assess progress, an 
Ofsted thematic review of careers guidance will report in the summer of 2013.
We have also published for the first time information on where young people 
go next when they leave school or college. This shows the percentage of 
students continuing their education in school, FE or 6th form colleges, Higher 
Education (HE) institutions, or through Apprenticeships or other work-based 
learning.  The data were published as a Statistical First Release (experimental 
statistics)3.

From summer 2013, if the data are robust enough, we also aim to publish 
information on employment destinations and on the characteristics of 
students.

We accept that we need to improve the way that we get information to young 
people and their parents. Schools have a significant role, but are not the only 
place where we can ensure that young people can access impartial 
information.

Improving employer links with schools 

There is some excellent practice in forging meaningful connections between 
industry and education, but we accept that this is by no means universal and 
varies by both place and sector. We are committed to improving employer 
links with schools, colleges and other training providers. Current activity 
includes work by the National Careers Service, National Apprenticeships 
Service and local enterprise partnerships, as well initiatives led by third sector 
organisations.

Alongside this, the first UK Skills Show was held this year. Its success 
demonstrates the value of this approach in highlighting not only young talent 
but also the range of vocational opportunities for young people. 

3
 The data are at http://www.education.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/STA/t001076/index.shtml. 

29



The independent review4 by businessman Jason Holt also set out a series of 
challenges for government to improve the engagement of smaller and 
medium sized firms in Apprenticeships. This too advocates greater attention 
to employer/schools links.

We seek your views on how we might best facilitate and promote employer 
engagement within schools, as a means of better informing young people and 
those around them about Apprenticeships. 

Question 20: What more can government do to facilitate effective third 
party/external use of its data to better inform individuals and employers 
about Apprenticeships? 

Question 21: What approaches are effective to inform young people and 
their parents about the opportunities provided by an Apprenticeship?

Question 22: How can we support employers to engage with learners of 
all ages to provide information about Apprenticeship opportunities? 

30

4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-apprenticeships-more-accessible-to-small-and-medium-sized-enterprises-

a-review-by-jason-holt



Section 8: Equality and diversity 

It is important that we assess the impacts, both direct and indirect, of the 
reforms set out in this document. Given that we are consulting on our 
proposals and the detail and timing of implementation is still to be confirmed, 
we have not yet carried out a full impact assessment. That work will be 
completed before we confirm our approach and implementation plan in the 
autumn. Initial screening suggests that some of the changes proposed could 
have a direct or indirect impact in terms of gender, ethnicity, age and 
disability. We would welcome views on this issue from all respondents and 
particularly organisations representing groups with protected characteristics5

and others that may be affected. 

Question 23: Do you consider that the proposals set out in this 
document would have a positive or negative impact on any group, 
including those with protected characteristics?  Please provide any 
comments or evidence you have for your answer and set out which 
aspects of the reforms will impact and how these impacts might be 
managed. 

5
 There are 9 protected characteristics as defined in the 2010 Equality Act: age, disability, 

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
and belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

31



Section 9: Timetable and next steps 

Further detailed work, including through the dialogue we will have with 
stakeholders as part of this consultation, will inform the implementation 
timetable. Given the scale of the proposed reforms, the necessary lead-in 
times to introducing changes to qualifications, funding or delivery, and the 
need to ensure stability for those currently undertaking or delivering 
Apprenticeships, full implementation will be carefully staged over the coming 
years.

We propose to confirm our broader approach and future timetable in autumn 
2013, including the timeframe for developing the new standards and 
qualifications that will underpin future Apprenticeships. Subject to the 
outcomes of this consultation, we hope that the first teaching of these new 
Apprenticeships, in those sectors which move fastest, will be possible in 
2014/15, with other sectors following in 2015/16. 

We will not delay making progress where we can now. For example, we will 
take forward measures to raise attainment in English and maths within 
Apprenticeships, and we will act on Doug Richard’s recommendations on 
improving awareness and boosting demand, including through increased 
access to government data. In addition, we will seek an early opportunity to 
ensure that the legislative framework for Apprenticeships can facilitate the 
reforms we are proposing.

Whilst we progress these important reforms, employers recruiting Apprentices 
today, and individuals embarking on Apprenticeships, can be confident that 
these will continue to be valued and supported.       

32



Section 10: Questions 

Question 1: How can we ensure that every Apprenticeship delivers substantial 
new skills? 

Question 2: How should we invite and enable employers to come together to 
design new standards for Apprenticeships?

Question 3: What are your views on the proposed criteria for Apprenticeship 
standards as set out in Section 2 of this document? 

Question 4: Should there be only one standard per Apprentice occupation/job 
role?

Question 5: Should there be only one qualification per standard? 

Question 6: How should we manage the transition from the current system of 
Apprenticeship frameworks to a new system of employer-designed
Apprenticeship standards and qualifications? 

Question 7: How can we make sure that the new standards stay relevant to 
employers, and are not compromised over time? 

Question 8: How can we ensure that employers are better engaged with the 
development and oversight of the assessment in Apprenticeships?  

Question 9: How could employers best be involved in the practical delivery of 
assessment?

Question 10: How can the independence and consistency of assessment in
Apprenticeships be further improved? 

Question 11: How should we implement end point assessment for 
Apprenticeships?

Question 12: How should we implement grading for Apprenticeship 
qualifications?

Question 13: What are the specific obstacles to all Apprentices achieving level 
2 English and maths as part of their Apprenticeship, and how could these be 
overcome?

Question 14: How would a requirement to have all Apprentices achieve level 2 
in English and maths impact on employers, providers and potential learners? 
What are the risks and potential solutions?  

Question 15: What further steps, by government or others, could encourage 
greater diversity and innovation in training delivery to help Apprentices reach 

33



the standards that employers have set?

Question 16: What approach would work best to ensure Apprentices benefit 
from time to train and reflect away from their day to day workplace?

Question 17: Should off-site learning be made mandatory?

Question 18: How can the process for approving training providers be 
improved, to help employers find high quality, relevant training?  

Question 19: Do you believe that a kitemarking scheme for your sector or 
profession would add value and be supported? 

Question 20: What more can government do to facilitate effective third 
party/external use of its data to better inform individuals and employers about 
Apprenticeships?

Question 21: What approaches are effective to inform young people and their 
parents about the opportunities provided by an Apprenticeship?

Question 22: How can we support employers to engage with learners of all 
ages to provide information about Apprenticeship opportunities? 

Question 23: Do you consider that the proposals set out in this document 
would have a positive or negative impact on any group, including those with 
protected characteristics?  Please provide any comments or evidence you 
have for your answer and set out which aspects of the reforms will impact and 
how these impacts might be managed. 

Question 24: Do you have any further comments on the issues in this 
consultation?

34



Section 11: Responding to this consultation 

When responding, please state whether you are doing so as an individual or 
representing the views of an organisation. If you are responding on behalf of 
an organisation, please make it clear who the organisation represents by 
selecting the appropriate interest group from the consultation form.

You can complete your response via the online survey

Alternatively, the consultation response form is at Annex A below or available
electronically at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/future-of-apprenticeships-in-
england-richard-review-next-steps

 The form can be submitted, by email or by letter to: 

Celia Romain 
BIS/DfE Joint Apprenticeships Unit
Department for Business Innovation and Skills
Orchard 1 
1 Victoria Street 
London
SW1H 0ET 
Email: apprenticeships.consultation@bis.gsi.gov.uk

The closing date for responses is Wednesday 22 May 2013. 

In developing our future approach we will also draw on responses to the 
Richard Review itself. Those organisations and individuals, who submitted 
these need not do so again here, but are invited to highlight any additional 
points that may be relevant, in particular focused on the questions set out in 
this document.

35



Section 12: Confidentiality & data protection 

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal 
information, may be subject to publication or release to other parties or to 
disclosure in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 
1998 (DPA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004). If you want 
information, including personal data that you provide to be treated as 
confidential, please be aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code 
of Practice with which public authorities must comply and which deals, 
amongst other things, with obligations of confidence.  

In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the 
information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for 
disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but 
we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all 
circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT 
system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 

Questions about the policy issues raised in the document can be addressed 
to:

BIS/DfE Joint Apprenticeships Unit 
Department for Business Innovation and Skills
Orchard 1 
1 Victoria Street 
London
SW1H 0ET 
Email: apprenticeships.consultation@bis.gsi.gov.uk

36



Section 13: Consultation principles 

The principles that government departments and other public bodies should 
adopt for engaging stakeholders when developing policy and legislation are 
set out in the consultation principles. 

http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Consultation-
Principles.pdf

Comments or complaints on the conduct of this 
consultation

If you wish to comment on the conduct of this consultation or make a 
complaint about the way this consultation has been conducted, please write 
to:

John Conway,
BIS Consultation Co-ordinator,
1 Victoria Street,
London
SW1H 0ET  

Telephone: 020 7215 6402  
Email: john.conway@bis.gsi.gov.uk 

37



Annex A: Response Form 

The Future of Apprenticeships in England: Next steps 
from the Richard Review

Response form

The Future of Apprenticeships in England: Next steps from the Richard 
Review can be found at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/future-of-apprenticeships-in-
england-richard-review-next-steps

You can complete your response via the online survey

The closing date for the consultation is Wednesday 22 May 2013.

Alternatively, you can complete the response form by email or by post. The 
email and postal addresses are:  

Celia Romain 
BIS/DfE Joint Apprenticeships Unit
Department for Business Innovation and Skills
Orchard 1 
1 Victoria Street 
London
SW1H 0ET 

Email: apprenticeships.consultation@bis.gsi.gov.uk

The Department may, in accordance with the Code of Practice on Access to 
Government Information, make available, on public request, individual 
responses.

38



Confidentiality and data protection

Please read this question carefully before you start responding to this 
consultation. The information you provide in response to this consultation, 
including personal information, may be subject to publication or release to 
other parties. If you do not want your response published or released then 
make sure you tick the appropriate box?

  Yes, I would like you to publish or release my response 

   No, I don’t want you to publish or release my response 

Your details 

Name:

Organisation (if applicable):

Address:

Telephone:

Fax:

Please tick the boxes below that best describe you as a respondent to 
this consultation 

 Business representative organisation 

 Independent Training Provider 

 College 

 Awarding Organisation 

 School 

 Charity or social enterprise 

 Individual 

 Legal representative 

39



 Local government 

 Large business (over 250 staff) 

 Medium business (50 to 250 staff) 

 Small business (10 to 49 staff) 

 Micro business (up to 9 staff) 

 Professional body 

 Trade union or staff association 

 Other (please describe)       

Question 1:  How can we ensure that every Apprenticeship delivers 
substantial new skills? 

Question 2:  How should we invite and enable employers to come 
together to design new standards for Apprenticeships?

Question 3:  What are your views on the proposed criteria for 
Apprenticeship standards as set out in Section 2 of this document?

Q4: Should there be only one standard per Apprentice occupation/job 
role?

Yes       No     Don’t know 

Please explain your response: 

40



Question 5: Should there be only one qualification per standard? 

Yes             No         Don’t know   

Please explain your response: 

Question 6:  How should we manage the transition from the current 
system of Apprenticeship frameworks to a new system of employer-
designed Apprenticeship standards and qualifications? 

Question 7: How can we make sure that the new standards stay relevant 
to employers, and are not compromised over time? 

Question 8: How can we ensure that employers are better engaged with 
the development and oversight of the assessment in Apprenticeships?

Question 9:  How could employers best be involved in the practical
delivery of assessment? 

Question 10:  How can the independence and consistency of 
assessment in Apprenticeships be further improved? 

Question 11: How should we implement end point assessment for 
Apprenticeships?

41



Question 12: How should we implement grading for Apprenticeship 
qualifications?

Question 13: What are the specific obstacles to all Apprentices 
achieving level 2 English and maths as part of their Apprenticeship, and 
how could these be overcome? 

Question 14: How would a requirement to have all Apprentices achieve 
level 2 in English and maths impact on employers, providers and 
potential learners? What are the risks and potential solutions?

Question 15: What further steps, by government or others, could 
encourage greater diversity and innovation in training delivery to help 
Apprentices reach the standards that employers have set? 

Question 16: What approach would work best to ensure Apprentices 
benefit from time to train and reflect away from their day to day 
workplace?  

Question 17: Should off-site learning be made mandatory?  

Yes           No      Don’t know   

Please explain your response: 

42



Question 18: How can the process for approving training providers be 
improved, to help employers find high quality, relevant training?  

Question 19: Do you believe that a kitemarking scheme for your sector 
or profession would add value and be supported? 

Yes              No         Don’t know   

Please explain your response: 

Question 20: What more can government do to facilitate effective third 
party/external use of its data to better inform individuals and employers 
about Apprenticeships? 

Question 21: What approaches are effective to inform young people and 
their parents about the opportunities provided by an Apprenticeship?

Question 22: How can we support employers to engage with learners of 
all ages to provide information about Apprenticeship opportunities? 

Question 23: Do you consider that the proposals set out in this 
document would have a positive or negative impact on any group, 
including those with protected characteristics?  Please provide any 
comments or evidence you have for your answer and set out which 
aspects of the reforms will impact and how these impacts might be 
managed. 

43



44

Question 24:  Do you have any further comments on the issues in this 
consultation?



Annex B: Terms of reference for Richard Review 

Summary 

1. The government wishes to commission an independent review of 
Apprenticeships in England, to ensure that in the future the programme is 
meeting the needs of the changing economy, consistently delivers the 
professionally recognised qualifications and skills which employers and 
learners need, and is maximising the impact of government investment. 

Detail

2.  To be led by a senior, independent business figure, the review should take 
critical look at apprenticeships and look to identify a set of principles and 
priorities for the optimal content of future Apprenticeships, to ensure that 
every Apprenticeship delivers new high quality training and professionally 
recognised qualifications.

3.  The review should identify the best of current practice and recommend 
ways to extend this. 

4.  Key questions to be considered include:

o What should the core components of an Apprenticeship be - to meet 
the needs of employers (large and small), individuals, and the wider 
economy?

o Who should Apprenticeships be for – which types of learners and 
employers can benefit most from apprenticeships? 

o Are there elements of apprenticeships which should be simplified or 
stripped back?

o Are the qualifications which are undertaken as part of an 
Apprenticeship sufficiently rigorous, and recognised and valued by 
employers?  

o How should delivery arrangements adequately ensure all that 
Apprenticeships provide significant new learning and acquisition of new 
skills, rather than the accreditation of existing ones?  

o Are there opportunities to improve the impact and value for money of 
public investment in apprenticeships?   

Timing

5.  The review should report in autumn 2012. 

45



                                                                  

© Crown copyright 2013 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. Visit 
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy 
Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: 
psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

This publication is also available online at www.gov.uk/bis
Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to: 

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
1 Victoria Street 

London SW1H 0ET 

Tel: 020 7215 5000 

If you require this publication in an alternative format, email enquiries@bis.gsi.gov.uk, or call 

020 7215 5000. 

BIS/13/577



R
e

p
o

rt
 T

it
le

:
A

p
p

re
n

ti
c

e
s

h
ip

 Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 M

I 
R

e
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

T
h

is
 r

e
p

o
rt

 c
o

n
ta

in
s

 d
a

ta
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 I

L
R

 f
o

r 
A

p
p

re
n

ti
c

e
s

h
ip

s
, 

A
p

p
re

n
ti

c
e

s
h

ip
s

 Q
S

R
 a

n
d

 A
p

p
re

n
ti

c
e

s
h

ip
 V

a
c

a
n

c
ie

s
.

N
o

te
s

1
) 

'-
' I

n
d

ic
a

te
s
 a

 b
a

s
e

 v
a

lu
e

 o
f 
0

 f
o

r 
v
o

lu
m

e
s
, 

fo
r 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
 R

a
te

s
 t

h
is

 i
n

d
ic

a
te

s
 a

 c
o

h
o

rt
 o

f 
le

s
s
 t

h
a

n
 5

.
2

) 
'<

5
' I

n
d

ic
a

te
s
 a

 b
a

s
e

 v
a

lu
e

 o
f 

le
s
s
 t

h
a

n
 5

.
3

)
F

u
ll 

q
u

a
rt

e
rs

 a
re

 a
s
 f

o
llo

w
s
:
Q

u
a

rt
e

r
1

:
A

u
g

 t
o

 O
c
t.

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

2
:

N
o

v
 t

o
 J

a
n

.
Q

u
a

rt
e

r
3

:
F

e
b

 t
o

 A
p

r.
Q

u
a

rt
e

r
4

:
M

a
y
 t

o
 J

u
l 
u

n
le

s
s
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
m

o
n

th
s
 a

re
 s

ta
te

d
.

4
)

W
h

e
re

 F
u

ll 
Y

e
a

r 
is

 n
o

t 
s
ta

te
d

 t
h

e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a

rs
 d

a
ta

 i
s
 l
ik

e
 f

o
r 

lik
e

, 
ie

 P
1

-3
a

t 
P

4
, 

P
1

-6
a

t 
P

6
, 

to
 e

n
a

b
le

 a
c
c
u

ra
te

 c
o

m
p

a
ri
s
io

n
s
, 

p
le

a
s
e

 s
e

e
 t

h
e

 R
e

fr
e

s
h

 T
im

e
ta

b
le

.
5

)
R

e
g

io
n

a
l 
re

fe
rs

 t
o

 t
h

e
 G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
O

ff
ic

e
 R

e
g

io
n

 f
o

r 
th

e
 L

E
A

.
6

)
In

c
lu

d
e

s
 d

a
ta

 f
ro

m
 E

m
p

lo
y
e

r 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 P

ilo
t 
.

7
)

P
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 f

ig
u

re
s
 a

re
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d

 u
s
in

g
 t

h
e

 s
a

m
e

 m
e

th
o

d
o

lo
g

y
 a

s
 t

h
e

 S
F

R
, 

h
o

w
e

v
e

r 
p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 d

a
ta

 c
a

n
n

o
t 

b
e

 m
a

tc
h

e
d

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

 S
F

R
 a

s
 t

h
is

 r
e

p
o

rt
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

s
 n

o
n

-f
u

n
d

e
d

 l
e

a
rn

e
rs

.
8

)
F

u
ll 

d
e

fi
n

it
io

n
s
 f

o
r 

th
is

 r
e

p
o

rt
 a

re
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 i
n

 a
 s

e
p

e
ra

te
 u

s
e

r 
g

u
id

e
, 

p
le

a
s
e

 s
e

e
 t

h
is

 f
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

d
e

ta
ils

.

D
a

ta
 S

o
u

rc
e

 F
re

q
u

e
n

c
y

P
u

b
lic

a
ti
o

n
 D

a
te

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

0
5

/0
2

/2
0

1
3

F
in

a
l

T
h

e
 D

a
ta

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 i
s
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 d

e
liv

e
ri
n

g
 a

n
d

 d
e

m
o

n
s
tr

a
ti
n

g
 e

x
c
e

lle
n

c
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o

n
, 

tr
a

n
s
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 d
is

s
e

m
in

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
le

a
rn

e
r 

a
n

d
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 d

a
ta

.
F

o
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 

o
n

 t
h

e
 d

a
ta

 q
u

a
lit

y
 o

f 
o

u
r 

d
a

ta
s
e

ts
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 k

n
o

w
n

 i
s
s
u

e
s
, 

p
le

a
s
e

 v
is

it
 t

h
e

 D
a

ta
 Q

u
a

lit
y
 s

e
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 D

a
ta

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 w

e
b

s
it
e

:

h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.t

h
e

d
a

ta
s
e

rv
ic

e
.o

rg
.u

k
/S

e
rv

ic
e

s
/D

a
ta

Q
u

a
lit

y
/

W
e

 w
o

rk
 c

lo
s
e

ly
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 t
o

w
a

rd
s
 t

h
e

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
o

u
s
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

d
a

ta
 v

a
lid

a
ti
o

n
, 

c
re

d
ib

ili
ty

 c
h

e
c
k
in

g
 a

n
d

 d
a

ta
 q

u
a

lit
y
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
e

s
 f

o
r 

In
d

iv
id

u
a

lis
e

d
 

L
e

a
rn

e
r 

R
e

c
o

rd
 (

IL
R

)
d

a
ta

s
e

ts
.

S
h

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 h
a

v
e

 a
n

y
 d

a
ta

 q
u

a
lit

y
 q

u
e

ri
e

s
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
o

n
ta

c
t 

th
e

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
s
k
 o

n
 T

e
le

p
h

o
n

e
: 

0
8

7
0

2
 6

7
0

0
0

1
 o

r 
b

y
 e

m
a

il 
a

t 
h

tt
p
:/

/w
w

w
.t

h
e

d
a

ta
s
e

rv
ic

e
.o

rg
.u

k
/C

o
n

ta
c
tU

s
/

In
 o

rd
e

r 
to

 c
o

m
p

ly
 w

it
h

 D
a

ta
 P

ro
te

c
ti
o

n
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

m
e

n
ts

, 
fi
g

u
re

s
 o

f 
le

s
s
 t

h
a

n
 5

h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 s
u

p
re

s
s
e

d
.

D
a

ta
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 A

p
p

re
n

ti
c
e

s
h

ip
 v

a
c
a

n
c
y
 o

n
lin

e
 s

y
s
te

m
 r

e
fe

rs
 t

o
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 o

n
lin

e
 s

y
s
te

m
 a

n
d

 a
re

 p
re

s
e

n
te

d
 t

o
 s

h
o

w
 i
ts

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

. 
 T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t 

re
p

re
s
e

n
t 

th
e

 t
o

ta
l 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

A
p

p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h

ip
s
 s

ta
rt

e
d

. 
 F

o
r 

th
e

 l
a

te
s
t 

d
a

ta
 o

n
 A

p
p

re
n

ti
c
e

s
h

ip
s
, 

s
e

e
 t

h
e

 S
ta

ti
s
ti
c
a

l 
F

ir
s
t 

R
e

le
a

s
e

.
  T

h
e

 t
a

b
le

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 d
is

p
la

y
 d

a
ta

 b
y
 a

c
a

d
e

m
ic

 y
e

a
r 

q
u

a
rt

e
rs

 b
a

s
e

d
 o

n
 t

h
e

 s
u

c
c
e

e
d

in
g

 p
e

ri
o

d
 e

g
 Q

1
a

t 
P

4
, 

Q
2

a
t 

P
7

, 
Q

3
a

t 
P

9
a

n
d

 Q
4

a
t 

p
1

2
, 

u
n

le
s
s
 o

th
e

rw
is

e
 s

ta
te

d
.

P
le

a
s

e
 N

o
te

:
Q

u
a

rt
e

r
4

w
ill

 u
s
e

 t
h

e
 R

1
4

 2
0

1
1

/1
2

 R
e

tu
rn

, 
E

R
1

2
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
 R

e
tu

rn
 a

n
d

 W
1

2
 2

0
0

9
/1

0
 R

e
tu

rn
, 

th
is

 i
s
 b

e
c
a

u
s
e

 i
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 t

h
e

 m
o

s
t 

lik
e

 f
o

r 
lik

e
 c

o
m

p
a

ri
s
o

n
 f

o
r 

p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a

rs
 b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 

th
e

 O
c
to

b
e

r 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
a

l 
F

ir
s
t 

R
e

le
a

s
e

 f
o

r 
th

is
 y

e
a

r.

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

1
o

f
1

0

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 4



N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
3
3
,0

8
9

3
4
,7

8
9

3
3
,2

1
8

5
.1

%
-4

.5
%

5
5
,5

7
1

5
8
,1

8
2

5
4
,4

8
8

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
,6

7
7

1
0
,0

4
1

9
,9

5
1

3
0
.8

%
-0

.9
%

1
4
,6

2
6

1
7
,0

2
9

1
5
,8

9
9

H
ig

h
e
r

1
0

1
2

3
2

2
0
.0

%
1
6
6
.7

%
3
0

3
7

5
2

T
o

ta
l

4
0
,7

7
6

4
4
,8

4
2

4
3
,2

0
1

1
0
.0

%
-3

.7
%

7
0
,2

2
7

7
5
,2

4
8

7
0
,4

3
9

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
3
,9

6
9

3
,8

7
4

4
,0

5
0

-2
.4

%
4
.5

%
7
,0

6
8

6
,7

7
0

6
,5

7
5

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

1
,0

5
3

1
,4

2
1

1
,2

7
7

3
4
.9

%
-1

0
.1

%
1
,8

4
7

2
,3

0
2

2
,0

2
8

H
ig

h
e
r

<
5

-
<

5
-1

0
0
.0

%
0
.0

%
<

5
-

5

T
o

ta
l

5
,0

2
3

5
,2

9
5

5
,3

3
1

5
.4

%
0
.7

%
8
,9

1
6

9
,0

7
2

8
,6

0
8

1
7

Y
e
a
r 

O
ld

s
S

ta
rt

s
%

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
1
2
9

1
1
6

8
0

-1
0
.1

%
-3

1
.0

%
2
0
7

2
1
1

1
5
3

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

4
3

4
3

3
5

0
.0

%
-1

8
.6

%
6
6

7
9

5
1

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

-
0
.0

%
0
.0

%
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l

1
7
2

1
5
9

1
1
5

-7
.6

%
-2

7
.7

%
2
7
3

2
9
0

2
0
4

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
2
8
8

2
5
1

2
6
3

-1
2
.8

%
4
.8

%
4
8
2

4
7
0

4
0
9

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
2
5
,4

2
9

2
5
,5

4
8

2
4
,3

7
0

0
.5

%
-4

.6
%

3
9
,6

1
4

4
2
,0

2
8

3
7
,4

1
7

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

4
,3

4
9

5
,2

6
4

5
,7

2
6

2
1
.0

%
8
.8

%
6
,4

9
9

8
,2

3
9

7
,6

4
4

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

<
5

0
.0

%
0
.0

%
-

-
<

5

T
o

ta
l

2
9
,7

7
8

3
0
,8

1
2

3
0
,0

9
9

3
.5

%
-2

.3
%

4
6
,1

1
3

5
0
,2

6
7

4
5
,0

6
4

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
2
,6

5
1

2
,7

2
3

2
,8

3
0

2
.7

%
3
.9

%
4
,1

1
9

4
,2

3
5

4
,2

4
6

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

5
6
0

6
9
1

6
7
5

2
3
.4

%
-2

.3
%

8
1
6

1
,0

6
0

9
3
5

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

-
0
.0

%
0
.0

%
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l

3
,2

1
1

3
,4

1
4

3
,5

0
5

6
.3

%
2
.7

%
4
,9

3
5

5
,2

9
5

5
,1

8
1

1
6

Y
e
a
r 

O
ld

s
S

ta
rt

s
%

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
9
9

6
9

8
8

-3
0
.3

%
2
7
.5

%
1
5
0

1
2
0

1
1
9

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

2
4

1
8

1
7

-2
5
.0

%
-5

.6
%

3
6

2
6

2
0

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

-
0
.0

%
0
.0

%
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l

1
2
3

8
7

1
0
5

-2
9
.3

%
2
0
.7

%
1
8
6

1
4
6

1
3
9

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
2
0
3

1
7
2

1
8
9

-1
5
.3

%
9
.9

%
3
2
9

2
8
7

2
8
7

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

2
o

f
1

0



N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
3
0
,8

9
4

3
6
,9

9
0

3
7
,8

3
0

1
9
.7

%
2
.3

%
5
1
,9

0
0

5
9
,3

6
9

5
6
,2

1
8

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

1
5
,2

1
3

1
8
,8

9
5

1
8
,4

6
9

2
4
.2

%
-2

.3
%

2
5
,8

1
7

2
9
,1

8
3

2
6
,6

5
2

H
ig

h
e
r

1
1
5

1
6
3

2
9
2

4
1
.7

%
7
9
.1

%
1
8
2

2
3
9

3
0
9

T
o

ta
l

4
6
,2

2
2

5
6
,0

4
8

5
6
,5

9
1

2
1
.3

%
1
.0

%
7
7
,8

9
9

8
8
,7

9
1

8
3
,1

7
9

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
4
,3

2
6

4
,5

0
9

4
,7

8
3

4
.2

%
6
.1

%
7
,5

6
1

8
,0

3
3

7
,3

9
2

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

1
,9

7
0

2
,4

9
7

2
,5

9
3

2
6
.8

%
3
.8

%
3
,2

1
7

3
,8

1
9

3
,8

6
8

H
ig

h
e
r

<
5

7
2
4

1
3
3
.3

%
2
4
2
.9

%
1
0

1
6

2
0

T
o

ta
l

6
,2

9
9

7
,0

1
3

7
,4

0
0

1
1
.3

%
5
.5

%
1
0
,7

8
8

1
1
,8

6
8

1
1
,2

8
0

1
8

Y
e
a
r 

O
ld

s
S

ta
rt

s
%

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
9
8

1
2
6

1
2
2

2
8
.6

%
-3

.2
%

1
5
8

2
2
5

2
0
6

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

6
3

8
0

7
7

2
7
.0

%
-3

.8
%

9
9

1
2
7

1
2
5

H
ig

h
e
r

<
5

-
<

5
-1

0
0
.0

%
0
.0

%
<

5
-

<
5

T
o

ta
l

1
6
3

2
0
6

2
0
0

2
6
.4

%
-2

.9
%

2
5
9

3
5
2

3
3
2

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
2
8
3

3
2
1

3
3
9

1
3
.4

%
5
.6

%
4
5
4

5
4
2

4
9
8

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
8
9
,4

1
2

9
7
,3

2
7

9
5
,4

1
8

8
.9

%
-2

.0
%

1
4
7
,0

8
5

1
5
9
,5

7
9

1
4
8
,1

2
2

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

2
7
,2

3
9

3
4
,2

0
0

3
4
,1

4
6

2
5
.6

%
-0

.2
%

4
6
,9

4
2

5
4
,4

5
1

5
0
,1

9
5

H
ig

h
e
r

1
2
5

1
7
5

3
2
7

4
0
.0

%
8
6
.9

%
2
1
2

2
7
6

3
6
5

T
o

ta
l

1
1
6
,7

7
6

1
3
1
,7

0
2

1
2
9
,8

9
1

1
2
.8

%
-1

.4
%

1
9
4
,2

3
9

2
1
4
,3

0
6

1
9
8
,6

8
2

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
1
0
,9

4
6

1
1
,1

0
6

1
1
,6

6
3

1
.5

%
5
.0

%
1
8
,7

4
8

1
9
,0

3
8

1
8
,2

1
3

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

3
,5

8
3

4
,6

0
9

4
,5

4
5

2
8
.6

%
-1

.4
%

5
,8

8
0

7
,1

8
1

6
,8

3
1

H
ig

h
e
r

<
5

7
2
8

7
5
.0

%
3
0
0
.0

%
1
1

1
6

2
5

T
o

ta
l

1
4
,5

3
3

1
5
,7

2
2

1
6
,2

3
6

8
.2

%
3
.3

%
2
4
,6

3
9

2
6
,2

3
5

2
5
,0

6
9

1
6
-1

8
S

ta
rt

s
%

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
3
2
6

3
1
1

2
9
0

-4
.6

%
-6

.8
%

5
1
5

5
5
6

4
7
7

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

1
3
0

1
4
1

1
2
9

8
.5

%
-8

.5
%

2
0
1

2
3
2

1
9
5

H
ig

h
e
r

<
5

-
<

5
-1

0
0
.0

%
0
.0

%
<

5
-

<
5

T
o

ta
l

4
5
8

4
5
2

4
2
0

-1
.3

%
-7

.1
%

7
1
8

7
8
8

6
7
3

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
7
7
5

7
4
5

7
9
3

-3
.9

%
6
.4

%
1
,2

6
5

1
,2

9
8

1
,1

9
3

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
1
.5

%
7
3
.3

%
7
1
.6

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
3
.7

%
7
8
.4

%
7
6
.5

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

-

T
o

ta
l

7
2
.0

%
7
4
.7

%
7
2
.9

%

1
6
-1

8
S

u
c

c
e

s
s

 R
a

te
s

 (
F

u
ll
 Y

e
a
r)

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
6
6
.7

%
6
9
.3

%
6
8
.7

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

6
8
.7

%
7
6
.8

%
7
0
.4

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

-

T
o

ta
l

6
7
.3

%
7
2
.0

%
6
9
.2

%

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
1
.1

%
7
2
.2

%
7
1
.9

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
6
.3

%
7
9
.0

%
7
6
.5

%

H
ig

h
e
r

4
0
.7

%
8
3
.2

%
6
4
.4

%

T
o

ta
l

7
2
.4

%
7
4
.0

%
7
3
.1

%

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

3
o

f
1

0



N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
2
,7

5
2

9
0
,4

3
4

1
0
1
,7

1
3

2
4
.3

%
1
2
.5

%
1
1
8
,9

9
9

1
4
8
,3

8
3

1
6
3
,3

5
8

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

3
9
,7

8
2

5
1
,6

4
4

5
8
,0

3
7

2
9
.8

%
1
2
.4

%
9
6
,3

3
1

1
1
0
,4

5
3

1
1
7
,1

0
7

H
ig

h
e
r

1
,2

3
3

1
,3

4
7

1
,6

6
6

9
.2

%
2
3
.7

%
1
,3

9
2

2
,4

4
4

2
,5

9
7

T
o

ta
l

1
1
3
,7

6
7

1
4
3
,4

2
5

1
6
1
,4

1
6

2
6
.1

%
1
2
.5

%
2
1
6
,7

2
2

2
6
1
,2

8
0

2
8
3
,0

6
2

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
1
2
,0

0
1

1
2
,7

9
4

1
3
,8

4
2

6
.6

%
8
.2

%
2
0
,4

4
0

2
2
,7

4
7

2
3
,0

8
7

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

6
,0

8
5

7
,6

8
3

8
,7

5
1

2
6
.3

%
1
3
.9

%
1
4
,2

0
6

1
6
,0

1
5

1
7
,2

8
6

H
ig

h
e
r

8
2

1
2
0

1
7
5

4
6
.3

%
4
5
.8

%
8
8

1
9
6

2
5
9

T
o

ta
l

1
8
,1

6
8

2
0
,5

9
7

2
2
,7

6
8

1
3
.4

%
1
0
.5

%
3
4
,7

3
4

3
8
,9

5
8

4
0
,6

3
2

1
9
-2

4
S

ta
rt

s
%

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
2
5
0

3
9
2

3
8
8

5
6
.8

%
-1

.0
%

4
2
8

6
0
2

6
2
6

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

1
6
7

2
2
6

2
1
1

3
5
.3

%
-6

.6
%

4
1
4

4
7
1

4
7
8

H
ig

h
e
r

<
5

7
8

7
5
.0

%
1
4
.3

%
<

5
1
2

1
1

T
o

ta
l

4
2
1

6
2
5

6
0
7

4
8
.5

%
-2

.9
%

8
4
6

1
,0

8
5

1
,1

1
5

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
6
7
1

8
5
9

1
,0

0
0

2
8
.0

%
1
6
.4

%
1
,2

4
8

1
,5

3
0

1
,7

1
6

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
7
.0

%
7
8
.0

%
7
6
.8

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
4
.0

%
8
0
.3

%
7
8
.3

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
7
8
.6

%
8
0
.6

%

T
o

ta
l

7
5
.9

%
7
8
.8

%
7
7
.4

%

1
9
-2

4
S

u
c

c
e

s
s

 R
a

te
s

 (
F

u
ll
 Y

e
a
r)

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
6
9
.1

%
7
3
.1

%
6
7
.2

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

6
5
.7

%
7
2
.1

%
6
9
.0

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

8
0
.0

%

T
o

ta
l

6
7
.8

%
7
2
.8

%
6
8
.0

%

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
4
.6

%
7
6
.7

%
7
4
.8

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
5
.5

%
7
9
.7

%
7
7
.8

%

H
ig

h
e
r

7
1
.6

%
8
4
.8

%
7
4
.4

%

T
o

ta
l

7
4
.9

%
7
7
.8

%
7
5
.9

%

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
2
8
,3

6
1

1
1
3
,3

7
9

1
3
1
,8

6
5

2
9
9
.8

%
1
6
.3

%
5
1
,0

4
5

1
3
2
,5

8
8

2
1
1
,1

3
1

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

2
0
,6

3
9

6
8
,0

2
2

9
5
,6

9
6

2
2
9
.6

%
4
0
.7

%
4
5
,9

0
6

9
0
,5

6
3

1
4
8
,1

8
8

H
ig

h
e
r

1
3
3

6
8
2

1
,7

0
2

4
1
2
.8

%
1
4
9
.6

%
1
4
3

8
2
0

2
,1

6
0

T
o

ta
l

4
9
,1

3
3

1
8
2
,0

8
3

2
2
9
,2

6
3

2
7
0
.6

%
2
5
.9

%
9
7
,0

9
4

2
2
3
,9

7
1

3
6
1
,4

7
9

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
4
,0

0
7

1
3
,1

9
0

1
5
,6

9
4

2
2
9
.2

%
1
9
.0

%
7
,6

9
4

1
6
,2

4
8

2
4
,7

1
2

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

2
,4

0
8

8
,8

0
0

1
2
,0

3
4

2
6
5
.4

%
3
6
.8

%
5
,9

6
1

1
1
,6

8
5

1
9
,0

9
0

H
ig

h
e
r

5
3
3

1
2
0

5
6
0
.0

%
2
6
3
.6

%
<

5
3
4

1
3
5

T
o

ta
l

6
,4

2
0

2
2
,0

2
3

2
7
,8

4
8

2
4
3
.0

%
2
6
.4

%
1
3
,6

5
8

2
7
,9

6
7

4
3
,9

3
7

2
5
+

S
ta

rt
s

%
D

if
fe

re
n

c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
9
7

4
6
4

6
0
5

3
7
8
.4

%
3
0
.4

%
1
9
5

5
4
5

9
1
9

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
3

3
1
1

3
6
5

3
2
6
.0

%
1
7
.4

%
1
9
0

4
0
5

5
9
2

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

<
5

0
.0

%
0
.0

%
-

-
<

5

T
o

ta
l

1
7
0

7
7
5

9
7
3

3
5
5
.9

%
2
5
.5

%
3
8
5

9
5
0

1
,5

1
5

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
3
2
3

1
,2

1
2

1
,4

8
3

2
7
5
.2

%
2
2
.4

%
6
3
3

1
,4

9
3

2
,3

4
2

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
9
.2

%
8
2
.2

%
7
5
.2

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
0
.1

%
7
6
.1

%
7
8
.2

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

7
5
.0

%

T
o

ta
l

7
5
.6

%
7
9
.8

%
7
6
.2

%

2
5
+

S
u

c
c

e
s

s
 R

a
te

s
 (

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r)

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
8
4
.5

%
8
4
.3

%
7
7
.8

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
0
.7

%
7
9
.2

%
7
8
.5

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
-

-

T
o

ta
l

7
8
.2

%
8
2
.5

%
7
8
.0

%

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
7
.5

%
8
0
.6

%
7
1
.4

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
1
.5

%
7
6
.2

%
7
5
.1

%

H
ig

h
e
r

6
0
.0

%
8
4
.2

%
7
0
.1

%

T
o

ta
l

7
5
.1

%
7
8
.8

%
7
2
.6

%

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

4
o

f
1

0



N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
1
9
0
,5

2
5

3
0
1
,1

4
0

3
2
8
,9

9
6

5
8
.1

%
9
.3

%
3
1
7
,1

2
9

4
4
0
,5

5
0

5
2
2
,6

1
1

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

8
7
,6

6
0

1
5
3
,8

6
6

1
8
7
,8

7
9

7
5
.5

%
2
2
.1

%
1
8
9
,1

7
9

2
5
5
,4

6
7

3
1
5
,4

9
0

H
ig

h
e
r

1
,4

9
1

2
,2

0
4

3
,6

9
5

4
7
.8

%
6
7
.6

%
1
,7

4
7

3
,5

4
0

5
,1

2
2

T
o

ta
l

2
7
9
,6

7
6

4
5
7
,2

1
0

5
2
0
,5

7
0

6
3
.5

%
1
3
.9

%
5
0
8
,0

5
5

6
9
9
,5

5
7

8
4
3
,2

2
3

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
2
6
,9

5
4

3
7
,0

9
0

4
1
,1

9
9

3
7
.6

%
1
1
.1

%
4
6
,8

8
2

5
8
,0

3
3

6
6
,0

1
2

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

1
2
,0

7
6

2
1
,0

9
2

2
5
,3

3
0

7
4
.7

%
2
0
.1

%
2
6
,0

4
7

3
4
,8

8
1

4
3
,2

0
6

H
ig

h
e
r

9
1

1
6
0

3
2
3

7
5
.8

%
1
0
1
.9

%
1
0
2

2
4
6

4
1
9

T
o

ta
l

3
9
,1

2
1

5
8
,3

4
2

6
6
,8

5
2

4
9
.1

%
1
4
.6

%
7
3
,0

3
1

9
3
,1

6
0

1
0
9
,6

3
7

A
ll
 A

g
e
s

S
ta

rt
s

%
D

if
fe

re
n

c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0
9
/1

0
 -

 
1
0
/1

1
1
0
/1

1
 -

 
1
1
/1

2
2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
6
7
3

1
,1

6
7

1
,2

8
3

7
3
.4

%
9
.9

%
1
,1

3
8

1
,7

0
3

2
,0

2
2

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

3
7
0

6
7
8

7
0
5

8
3
.2

%
4
.0

%
8
0
5

1
,1

0
8

1
,2

6
4

H
ig

h
e
r

6
7

1
2

1
6
.7

%
7
1
.4

%
6

1
2

1
6

T
o

ta
l

1
,0

4
9

1
,8

5
2

2
,0

0
0

7
6
.5

%
8
.0

%
1
,9

4
9

2
,8

2
3

3
,3

0
2

S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
a
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
T

o
ta

l
1
,7

7
0

2
,8

1
7

3
,2

7
7

5
9
.2

%
1
6
.3

%
3
,1

4
6

4
,3

2
1

5
,2

5
0

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
4
.9

%
7
6
.8

%
7
4
.6

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
3
.0

%
7
8
.8

%
7
7
.8

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
8
0
.3

%
8
0
.3

%

T
o

ta
l

7
4
.3

%
7
7
.4

%
7
5
.7

%

A
ll
 A

g
e
s

S
u

c
c

e
s

s
 R

a
te

s
 (

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r)

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

L
E

A
In

te
rm

e
d
ia

te
7
0
.7

%
7
3
.9

%
7
1
.6

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

6
8
.0

%
7
5
.4

%
7
2
.9

%

H
ig

h
e
r

-
8
3
.3

%
8
0
.0

%

T
o

ta
l

6
9
.7

%
7
4
.5

%
7
2
.1

%

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
7
3
.4

%
7
5
.3

%
7
2
.6

%

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d

7
4
.8

%
7
8
.6

%
7
6
.5

%

H
ig

h
e
r

6
4
.2

%
8
4
.6

%
7
2
.6

%

T
o

ta
l

7
3
.8

%
7
6
.4

%
7
3
.8

%

M
o

n
th

 b
y
 M

o
n

th
 p

e
r
fo

r
m

a
n

c
e
 f

o
r
 1

6
-1

8

S
ta

rt
s

A
u

g
S

e
p

O
c
t

N
o

v
D

e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

A
p

r
M

a
y

J
u

n
J
u

l
T

o
ta

l

2
0
0
9
/1

0
7
3

1
1
5

1
7

2
3

1
7

2
3

5
2

2
4

1
4

1
3

4
3

4
4

4
5
8

2
0
1
0
/1

1
4
0

1
2
6

5
4

2
3

2
0

2
2

4
5

2
8

1
4

1
5

3
2

3
3

4
5
2

2
0
1
1
/1

2
6
7

1
0
3

3
8

3
6

1
5

2
1

3
0

2
8

1
6

2
3

1
4

2
9

4
2
0

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

A
u

g
S

e
p

O
c
t

N
o

v
D

e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

A
p

r
M

a
y

J
u

n
J
u

l

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
8
8

3
9
4

3
8
7

3
8
6

3
8
3

4
0
4

4
3
6

4
4
0

4
4
3

4
4
2

4
6
4

4
8
8

2
0
1
0
/1

1
3
3
7

4
3
8

4
6
5

4
7
2

4
7
3

4
7
9

5
0
9

4
9
7

4
7
8

4
7
5

4
7
6

4
8
1

2
0
1
1
/1

2
3
1
3

3
9
6

4
0
1

4
2
3

4
2
6

4
4
1

4
5
0

4
6
0

4
4
9

4
5
0

4
3
6

4
3
8

A
c
h

ie
v
e
m

e
n

ts
A

u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o

v
D

e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

A
p

r
M

a
y

J
u

n
J
u

l
T

o
ta

l

2
0
0
9
/1

0
1
4

2
3

2
2

1
8

1
6

2
3

1
7

1
2

1
3

1
5

2
1

6
5

2
5
9

2
0
1
0
/1

1
3
1

2
0

1
9

1
4

1
1

1
1

2
9

1
6

1
6

2
8

2
3

7
4

2
9
2

2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
3

2
2

1
9

1
1

1
3

1
6

2
2

3
0

1
9

2
0

3
2

3
5

2
6
2

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

5
o

f
1

0



E
m

p
lo

y
e
r 

S
e
c
to

r 
L

e
a
d

 B
o

d
y

1
1
/1

2
 s

ta
rt

s
 o

n
ly

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 S
e
c
to

r 
L

e
a
d

 B
o

d
y

1
1
/1

2
 s

ta
rt

s
 o

n
ly

1
6
-1

8
1
9
-2

4
2
5
+

T
o

ta
l

1
6
-1

8
1
9
-2

4
2
5
+

T
o

ta
l

A
c
ti
v
e
 L

e
is

u
re

, 
L
e
a
rn

in
g
 &

 W
e
ll-

b
e
in

g
4
1

3
5

1
2

8
8

6
0

3
4

1
5

1
0
9

A
d
u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

2
3

6
5

1
6
0

2
4
8

3
8

1
0
3

2
1
9

3
6
0

A
d
u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

/H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re

-
-

-
-

-
7

1
3

2
0

A
u
to

m
o
ti
v
e
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ie
s

2
8

1
1

1
4

5
3

3
4

1
4

-
4
8

B
u
ild

in
g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 E

n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 

1
8

1
4

1
2

4
4

2
5

1
8

<
5

4
6

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 I
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 &

 T
e
le

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n

5
5

1
5

2
5

2
8

1
7

7
5
2

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
, 
A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 &

 G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

-
-

-
-

6
2

1
9
0

3
6
9

6
2
1

C
h
e
m

ic
a
ls

, 
L
if
e
 s

c
ie

n
c
e
s
, 
P

h
a
rm

a
c
e
u
ti
c
a
ls

, 
N

u
c
le

a
r,

 O
il,

 G
a
s
, 
P

e
tr

o
le

u
m

, 
P

o
ly

m
e
r

<
5

-
-

<
5

-
-

-
-

C
h
ild

re
n
 &

 Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

-
-

-
-

-
<

5
<

5
5

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

1
3

2
2

2
8

6
3

5
5

2
7

5
8
7

C
re

a
ti
v
e
 &

 C
u
lt
u
ra

l
<

5
<

5
<

5
5

<
5

<
5

-
5

C
re

a
ti
v
e
 M

e
d
ia

<
5

5
<

5
1
1

-
-

-
-

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 &

 C
o
n
ta

c
t 
C

e
n
tr

e
-

-
-

-
-

-
<

5
<

5

E
n
e
rg

y
 &

 U
ti
lit

y
<

5
<

5
9

1
2

<
5

<
5

-
7

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 C

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

y
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t,
 H

o
u
s
in

g
, 
P

ro
p
e
rt

y
, 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 &

 C
le

a
n
in

g
<

5
2
3

2
1

4
8

<
5

1
4

2
9

4
6

F
a
s
h
io

n
 &

 T
e
x
ti
le

s
-

-
<

5
<

5
-

-
-

-

F
in

a
n
c
e
, 
A

c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 &

 F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

7
1
4

2
6

4
7

9
1
6

9
3
4

F
o
o
d
 &

 D
ri
n
k

-
<

5
1
3

1
6

-
-

1
6

1
6

F
re

ig
h
t 
L
o
g
is

ti
c
s
 &

 W
h
o
le

s
a
le

 
1
4

1
0

2
4

4
8

<
5

<
5

4
9

5
4

H
a
ir
 &

 B
e
a
u
ty

-
-

-
-

-
<

5
-

<
5

H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re

1
2

5
2

1
0
9

1
7
3

9
1
1

2
0

4
0

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
, 
L
e
is

u
re

, 
T

ra
v
e
l 
&

 T
o
u
ri
s
m

2
3

6
4

9
0

1
7
7

3
0

6
3

6
9

1
6
2

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
R

e
la

ti
o
n
s

-
-

-
-

<
5

9
2
6

3
7

J
u
s
ti
c
e
 &

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty
<

5
<

5
6

1
2

-
-

5
5

L
a
n
d

-B
a
s
e
d
 &

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
In

d
u
s
tr

ie
s

<
5

8
2
3

3
4

7
9

<
5

2
0

L
if
e
lo

n
g
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

7
6

2
5

1
2

1
1
3

-
-

-
-

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
&

 L
e
a
d
e
rs

h
ip

 (
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 H

R
 &

 R
e
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t)

-
-

-
-

-
-

<
5

<
5

M
a
ri
ti
m

e
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-

M
a
rk

e
ti
n
g
 &

 S
a
le

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-

N
o
t 
A

p
p
/

K
n
o
w

n
9
0

1
6
9

3
2
1

5
8
0

5
<

5
<

5
9

P
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

-
<

5
8

9
<

5
<

5
1
8

2
1

P
ro

c
e
s
s
 &

 M
a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g

7
5

-
1
2

-
<

5
8

1
2

R
e
ta

il
2
5

5
5

4
0

1
2
0

1
1

3
1

2
5

6
7

S
c
ie

n
c
e
, 
E

n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 &

 M
a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
ie

s
2
2

1
5

2
3

6
0

3
2

2
1

5
3

1
0
6

S
e
c
u
ri
ty

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

y
-

-
-

-
-

<
5

5
8

S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 T

e
a
c
h
in

g
 &

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 i
n
 S

c
h
o
o
ls

 
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

4
2
0

6
0
7

9
7
3

2
,0

0
0

4
2
0

6
0
7

9
7
3

2
,0

0
0

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

6
o

f
1

0



S
ta

rt
s
 b

y
 E

m
p

lo
y
e
r 

S
iz

e
 C

u
rr

e
n

t 
Y

e
a
r

1
6
-1

8
1
9
-2

4
2
5
+

S
m

a
ll

2
1
3

2
7
6

3
6
5

M
e
d

iu
m

7
0

1
1
7

1
5
5

L
a
rg

e
5
9

6
9

1
3
2

V
e
ry

 L
a
rg

e
6
3

1
3
2

2
8
6

U
n

k
n

o
w

n
1
5

1
3

3
5

S
ta

rt
s

 b
y

 L
L

D
D

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

1
6
-1

8
Y

e
s

1
6
.6

%
1
4
.6

%
8
.1

%

N
o

8
3
.0

%
8
4
.3

%
9
0
.0

%

U
n
k
n
o
w

n
0
.4

%
1
.1

%
1
.9

%

1
9
-2

4
Y

e
s

1
1
.6

%
8
.8

%
1
2
.2

%

N
o

8
7
.6

%
8
9
.6

%
8
5
.8

%

U
n
k
n
o
w

n
0
.7

%
1
.6

%
2
.0

%

2
5
+

Y
e
s

1
0
.0

%
6
.7

%
9
.1

%

N
o

9
0
.0

%
9
0
.1

%
8
7
.8

%

U
n
k
n
o
w

n
0
.0

%
3
.2

%
3
.1

%

S
ta

rt
s

 b
y

 G
e

n
d

e
r

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

1
6
-1

8
F

e
m

a
le

3
4
.7

%
4
3
.6

%
4
2
.1

%

M
a
le

6
5
.3

%
5
6
.4

%
5
7
.9

%

1
9
-2

4
F

e
m

a
le

5
4
.2

%
5
8
.1

%
5
3
.2

%

M
a
le

4
5
.8

%
4
1
.9

%
4
6
.8

%

2
5
+

F
e
m

a
le

6
1
.8

%
6
3
.1

%
5
7
.0

%

M
a
le

3
8
.2

%
3
6
.9

%
4
3
.0

%

D
e

m
o

g
ra

p
h

ic
s

1
6

-1
8

S
ta

rt
s

 b
y

 S
e

c
to

r 
S

u
b

je
c

t 
A

re
a

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

A
g
ri
c
u
lt
u
re

, 
H

o
rt

ic
u
lt
u
re

 a
n
d
 A

n
im

a
l 
C

a
re

<
5

7

A
rt

s
, 
M

e
d
ia

 a
n
d
 P

u
b
lis

h
in

g
1
5

<
5

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
, 
A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 L

a
w

7
2

7
1

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
, 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 B

u
ilt

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

8
1

8
0

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 T

ra
in

in
g

<
5

<
5

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 M

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
ie

s
6
6

7
5

H
e
a
lt
h
, 
P

u
b
lic

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 C

a
re

4
1

4
7

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

4
8

2
8

L
e
is

u
re

, 
T

ra
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 T

o
u
ri
s
m

2
5

2
4

N
o
t 
A

p
p
lic

a
b
le

/
N

o
t 
K

n
o
w

n
-

-

R
e
ta

il 
a
n
d
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e

9
9

8
2

S
c
ie

n
c
e
 a

n
d
 M

a
th

e
m

a
ti
c
s

-
-

1
7

Y
e
a
r 

O
ld

 
S

ta
rt

s
1
7

Y
e
a
r 

O
ld

 C
o

h
o

rt
%

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
7
0

2
,6

3
4

1
0
.2

%

2
0
1
0
/1

1
3
0
4

2
,4

5
1

1
2
.4

%

B
a

s
e

li
n

e
 f

o
r 

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

e
o

p
le

's
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

A
c

c
e

s
s

 t
o

 A
p

p
re

n
ti

c
e

s
h

ip
s

C
u

rr
e
n

t 
Y

e
a
r 

S
ta

rt
s

S
ta

rt
s
 o

n
 P

a
th

w
a
y

O
f 

w
h

ic
h

 G
a
in

e
d

 
E

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n

t

In
te

rm
e
d

ia
te

2
7

7

A
d

v
a
n

c
e
d

1
4

<
5

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

7
o

f
1

0



1
6
-1

8
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 b
y
 v

o
lu

m
e

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
4
6

Z
E

N
O

S
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
7

A
B

O
V

E
 B

A
R

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
3

C
A

R
IL

L
IO

N
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 L
IM

IT
E

D
3
3

E
A

S
T

L
E

IG
H

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
2
1

T
O

T
T

O
N

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
2
0

M
C

D
O

N
A

L
D

'S
 R

E
S

T
A

U
R

A
N

T
S

 L
IM

IT
E

D
1
8

P
A

R
A

G
O

N
 E

D
U

C
A

T
IO

N
 &

 S
K

IL
L

S
 L

IM
IT

E
D

1
8

L
IF

E
T

IM
E

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

P
 L

IM
IT

E
D

1
7

F
N

T
C

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

A
N

C
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
1
5

1
6
-1

8
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 b
y
 v

o
lu

m
e

2
0
1
1
/1

2

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
5
6

E
A

S
T

L
E

IG
H

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
4
1

C
A

R
IL

L
IO

N
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 L
IM

IT
E

D
3
5

A
B

O
V

E
 B

A
R

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
2

P
E

A
R

S
O

N
 I

N
 P

R
A

C
T

IC
E

 T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
2
1

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 
A

S
S

O
C

IA
T

IO
N

 L
IM

IT
E

D
 (

T
H

E
)

1
7

S
P

A
R

S
H

O
L

T
 C

O
L

L
E

G
E

 H
A

M
P

S
H

IR
E

1
0

L
IF

E
T

IM
E

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

P
 L

IM
IT

E
D

1
0

B
A

B
C

O
C

K
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 L

IM
IT

E
D

1
0

F
N

T
C

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

A
N

C
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
9

1
6
-1

8
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

S
A

S
E

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

s
 b

y
 v

o
lu

m
e

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

6
1

IT
 a

n
d
 T

e
le

c
o
m

s
 P

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
ls

 (
in

c
 I
C

T
)

4
6

H
a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
4
4

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

3
8

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

3
1

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

2
7

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

2
6

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

2
4

V
e
h
ic

le
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 R

e
p
a
ir

1
9

A
c
ti
v
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 a
n
d
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

1
9

1
6
-1

8
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

S
A

S
E

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

s
 b

y
 v

o
lu

m
e

2
0
1
1
/1

2

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

5
5

H
a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
3
2

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

3
0

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

3
0

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

2
8

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

2
8

V
e
h
ic

le
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 R

e
p
a
ir

2
6

IT
 a

n
d
 T

e
le

c
o
m

s
 P

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
ls

 (
in

c
 I
C

T
)

2
5

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

2
3

A
c
ti
v
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 a
n
d
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

1
7

1
9
-2

4
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 b
y
 v

o
lu

m
e

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
5
6

F
N

T
C

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

A
N

C
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
4
7

B
A

B
C

O
C

K
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
6

P
A

R
A

G
O

N
 E

D
U

C
A

T
IO

N
 &

 S
K

IL
L

S
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
6

L
IF

E
T

IM
E

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

P
 L

IM
IT

E
D

2
9

K
A

P
L

A
N

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 L

IM
IT

E
D

2
4

T
H

E
 C

A
P

IT
A

 G
R

O
U

P
 P

L
C

1
9

T
O

T
T

O
N

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
1
8

E
A

S
T

L
E

IG
H

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
1
8

B
R

O
C

K
E

N
H

U
R

S
T

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
1
7

1
9
-2

4
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 b
y
 v

o
lu

m
e

2
0
1
1
/1

2

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
6
7

B
A

B
C

O
C

K
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
4

T
O

T
T

O
N

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
2
8

F
N

T
C

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

A
N

C
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
2
7

J
H

P
 G

R
O

U
P

 L
IM

IT
E

D
2
2

B
R

O
C

K
E

N
H

U
R

S
T

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
1
9

E
A

S
T

L
E

IG
H

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
1
6

F
A

R
E

P
O

R
T

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 O
R

G
A

N
IS

A
T

IO
N

 L
IM

IT
E

D
1
4

H
O

S
P

IT
A

L
IT

Y
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 P

A
R

T
N

E
R

S
H

IP
 (

IO
W

)
L

IM
IT

E
D

1
4

T
H

E
 C

A
R

E
 L

E
A

R
N

IN
G

 C
E

N
T

R
E

 (
IS

L
E

 O
F

 W
IG

H
T

)
L

IM
IT

E
D

1
4

1
9
-2

4
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

S
A

S
E

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

s
 b

y
 v

o
lu

m
e

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

9
8

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

7
6

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

6
0

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

5
7

R
e
ta

il
4
2

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

3
9

A
c
ti
v
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 a
n
d
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

3
5

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

3
1

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

2
7

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y

1
9

1
9
-2

4
 S

ta
rt

s
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

S
A

S
E

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

s
 b

y
 v

o
lu

m
e

2
0
1
1
/1

2

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

8
9

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

8
4

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

6
3

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

5
4

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

4
7

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

3
2

R
e
ta

il
3
1

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

2
7

A
c
ti
v
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 a
n
d
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

1
9

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y

1
4

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

8
o

f
1

0



2
5
+

 S
ta

rt
s

H
ig

h
e
s
t 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 b
y
 v

o
lu

m
e

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1

F
N

T
C

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

A
N

C
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
5
4

P
A

R
A

G
O

N
 E

D
U

C
A

T
IO

N
 &

 S
K

IL
L

S
 L

IM
IT

E
D

5
3

B
R

O
C

K
E

N
H

U
R

S
T

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
3
9

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
3
7

T
H

E
 C

A
P

IT
A

 G
R

O
U

P
 P

L
C

3
5

T
O

T
T

O
N

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
3
2

S
H

E
F

F
IE

L
D

 T
R

A
IN

E
R

S
 L

IM
IT

E
D

2
9

T
H

E
 C

A
R

E
 L

E
A

R
N

IN
G

 C
E

N
T

R
E

 (
IS

L
E

 O
F

 W
IG

H
T

)
L

IM
IT

E
D

2
7

J
H

P
 G

R
O

U
P

 L
IM

IT
E

D
2
5

S
O

U
T

H
 N

O
T

T
IN

G
H

A
M

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
2
2

2
5
+

 S
ta

rt
s

H
ig

h
e
s
t 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 b
y
 v

o
lu

m
e

2
0
1
1
/1

2

B
R

O
C

K
E

N
H

U
R

S
T

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
6
2

T
O

T
T

O
N

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
6
1

F
N

T
C

 T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

A
N

C
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
5
5

N
E

W
C

A
S

T
L

E
 C

O
L

L
E

G
E

4
2

P
A

R
A

G
O

N
 E

D
U

C
A

T
IO

N
 &

 S
K

IL
L

S
 L

IM
IT

E
D

3
8

S
O

U
T

H
A

M
P

T
O

N
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

L
L

E
G

E
3
8

T
H

E
 C

A
R

E
 L

E
A

R
N

IN
G

 C
E

N
T

R
E

 (
IS

L
E

 O
F

 W
IG

H
T

)
L

IM
IT

E
D

3
6

B
A

B
C

O
C

K
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 L

IM
IT

E
D

2
7

H
O

S
P

IT
A

L
IT

Y
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 P

A
R

T
N

E
R

S
H

IP
 (

IO
W

)
L

IM
IT

E
D

2
6

J
H

P
 G

R
O

U
P

 L
IM

IT
E

D
2
6

2
5
+

 S
ta

rt
s

H
ig

h
e
s
t 

S
A

S
E

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

s
 b

y
 v

o
lu

m
e

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
0
/1

1

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

2
0
2

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

1
2
4

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

9
0

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

6
6

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

4
9

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

3
8

W
a
re

h
o
u
s
in

g
 &

 S
to

ra
g
e

3
1

R
e
ta

il
2
4

T
e
a
c
h
in

g
 A

s
s
is

ta
n
ts

2
4

R
e
ta

il 
F

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
7

2
5
+

 S
ta

rt
s

H
ig

h
e
s
t 

S
A

S
E

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

s
 b

y
 v

o
lu

m
e

2
0
1
1
/1

2

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

2
0
3

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

1
5
6

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

1
3
3

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

7
3

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

6
9

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

5
2

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

5
1

D
ri
v
in

g
 G

o
o
d
s
 V

e
h
ic

le
s

3
3

C
le

a
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

 S
e
rv

ic
e
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

y
2
7

T
e
a
c
h
in

g
 A

s
s
is

ta
n
ts

2
6

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

9
o

f
1

0



A
p

p
re

n
ti

c
e

s
h

ip
 v

a
c

a
n

c
ie

s

U
n

d
e
r

1
9

A
c
ti

v
a
te

d
 R

e
g

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

s
2

0
1

0
/1

1
F

u
ll

 Y
e

a
r

2
0

1
1

/1
2

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
1
,1

2
9

9
6
2

R
e
g
io

n
a
l

3
2
,4

8
1

3
2
,0

2
5

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

2
5
9
,6

3
5

2
5
8
,1

2
9

U
n

d
e
r

1
9

A
p

p
li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
2

0
1

0
/1

1
F

u
ll

 Y
e

a
r

2
0

1
1

/1
2

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
2
,4

2
0

1
,7

6
1

R
e
g
io

n
a
l

5
5
,1

7
1

5
0
,9

6
0

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

6
3
5
,2

5
0

5
4
0
,9

8
1

V
a

c
a

n
c

ie
s

 p
o

s
te

d
 

(o
p

e
n

 t
o

 a
ll

 a
g

e
s

)
U

1
9

A
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 p
e

r 
V

a
c

a
n

c
y

V
a

c
a

n
c

ie
s

 &
 A

p
p

li
c

a
ti

o
n

 r
a

te
s

 
b

y
 S

e
c

to
r 

S
u

b
je

c
t 

A
re

a
2

0
1

0
/1

1
F

u
ll

 Y
e

a
r

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
0

/1
1

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a

r
2

0
1

1
/1

2

A
g
ri
c
u
lt
u
re

, 
H

o
rt

ic
u
lt
u
re

 a
n
d
 A

n
im

a
l 
C

a
re

-
5

-
2
.8

A
rt

s
, 
M

e
d
ia

 a
n
d
 P

u
b
lis

h
in

g
-

2
6

-
2
.8

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
, 
A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 L

a
w

8
3

1
2
5

9
.9

8
.4

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
, 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 B

u
ilt

 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

6
2
4

1
.7

6
.0

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 T

ra
in

in
g

-
2

-
7
.0

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 M

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 

T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
ie

s
2
8

4
0

2
1
.0

1
9
.9

H
e
a
lt
h
, 
P

u
b
lic

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 C

a
re

1
4

4
0

1
0
.5

5
.8

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 

T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

1
7

2
5

3
.8

5
.9

L
e
is

u
re

, 
T

ra
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 T

o
u
ri
s
m

1
3
8

-
0
.7

R
e
ta

il 
a
n
d
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e

2
8

2
5

2
.7

4
.6

S
c
ie

n
c
e
 a

n
d
 M

a
th

e
m

a
ti
c
s

-
-

-
-

U
n
k
n
o
w

n
1

-
4
.0

-

V
a

c
a

n
c

ie
s

 p
o

s
te

d
(o

p
e

n
 t

o
 a

ll
 a

g
e

s
)

A
v

e
 U

1
9
 A

p
p

li
c

a
ti

o
n

s
(p

e
r 

V
a

c
a

n
c

y
)

H
ig

h
e

s
t 

F
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
s

 
V

a
c

a
n

c
ie

s
 &

 A
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
 r

a
te

s
2

0
1

0
/1

1
F

u
ll

 Y
e

a
r

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
0

/1
1

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a

r
2

0
1

1
/1

2

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

3
1

-
1
2
.4

-

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 a

n
d
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

2
4

8
2

8
.6

7
.1

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

1
7

3
1

7
.8

7
.8

IT
 &

 T
E

L
E

C
O

M
S

 P
ro

fA
L

1
5

-
2
.8

-

R
e
ta

il
1
4

1
0

1
.4

0
.1

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

1
3

7
3
.3

5
.0

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

7
-

1
2
.3

-

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

7
-

2
1
.9

-

S
a
le

s
 a

n
d
 T

e
le

s
a
le

s
6

-
7
.0

-

V
e
h
ic

le
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 R

e
p
a
ir

5
-

1
9
.6

-

H
ig

h
e

s
t 

A
p

p
re

n
ti

c
e

s
h

ip
 v

a
c

a
n

c
ie

s
 -

A
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 b
y

 u
n

d
e

r 
1

9
s

V
a

c
a

n
c

y
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

2
0

1
0

/1
1

F
u

ll
 Y

e
a

r
2

0
1

1
/1

2

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

3
8
5

-

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

2
5
6

5
0

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 a

n
d
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

2
0
7

5
8
0

E
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

1
5
3

-

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

1
3
2

2
4
2

V
e
h
ic

le
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 R

e
p
a
ir

9
8

-

C
h
ild

re
n
's

 C
a
re

 L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

8
6

-

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 C

a
te

ri
n
g

4
3

3
5

IT
 &

 T
E

L
E

C
O

M
S

 P
ro

fA
L

4
2

-

S
a
le

s
 a

n
d
 T

e
le

s
a
le

s
4
2

-

L
o

c
a

l 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

:
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

P
a

g
e

1
0

o
f
1

0



APPENDIX 5 
 

BRIEFING PAPER     
 

SUBJECT: New Apprenticeship Campaign 
DATE: 11 March 2013 
RECIPIENT: Leader of the Council 
REPORT OF: Andy Tickner, Skills Manager 
DIRECTOR: Dawn Baxendale, Interim Chief Executive 

 

THIS IS NOT A DECISION PAPER 
SUMMARY: 
 The Council has strategic lead to generate Apprenticeship growth in the city, 

including the introduction of new initiatives to create additional Apprenticeship 
opportunities, and the provision of Information, Advice and Guidance to raise 
awareness of Apprenticeships to young people, parents, adults and local 
businesses. 
In partnership with the National Apprenticeship Service (NAS), the Council is 
planning to introduce a new Southampton ‘1 in 1000’ Apprenticeship Campaign, to 
boost the number of local businesses recruiting apprentices. Particular focus will be 
in key sectors of construction (including ECO/Green Deal), Marine (including 
BEEMS), Advanced Manufacturing, Health and Social Care, Hospitality and Retail.  
The proposed activities for the campaign were agreed at an initial planning meeting 
with NAS on 1 March. This paper outlines the proposed activities. 
Approval is requested to develop and deliver the campaign, to inform businesses 
during events already scheduled for National Apprenticeship Week (11-15 March), 
with an official campaign launch April onwards. 

BACKGROUND and BRIEFING DETAILS: 
1 The National Apprenticeship Service Final Report for academic year 2011/12 was 

released in February 2013. The report confirms that across all age groups 
Southampton has seen an 8% increase in apprenticeship starts compared with the 
previous year. The regional increase is 15% and national increase 13%. 
Southampton apprenticeship starts for ages 16-18 and 19-24 have decreased by 7% 
and 3% respectively, comparing unfavourably with regional and national trends. 
Targeted programmes for 16-18 and 19-24 apprenticeships need to be re- 
introduced in the city. 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 5



APPENDIX 5 
 

BRIEFING PAPER     
 

2 In partnership with the National Apprenticeship Service, the Council delivered a 
highly successful ‘100 in 100’ campaign in 2011 which boosted the local economy 
with an additional 186 apprenticeship starts in 100 days. The focus of the campaign 
was to raise awareness of apprenticeship opportunities to local young people, 
parents and unemployed adults. 

3 The new Southampton ‘1 in 1000’ campaign will prioritise information, advice and 
guidance (IAG), raising awareness, offering practical support and incentives for local 
employers to recruit apprentices, particularly SMEs and employers in key sectors. 
The campaign target will be for 1000 local employers to have at least one apprentice 
in their workforce, including a sub-target for higher level apprenticeships. The 
existing number of employers who have recruited apprentices is being confirmed by 
NAS, so that the size of the task is clear, and a realistic campaign timescale will be 
set. 

 Proposed Campaign Activities 
4 Employer Engagement – Local business representative organisations will be 

campaign partners to provide IAG and promote apprenticeship recruitment to 
employers, including the Chamber of Commerce, FSB and Business Solent. NAS 
has committed £27,000 for the South Central area, through which the Chamber of 
Commerce and FSB will claim £200 for every 16-18 apprenticeship recruited as a 
direct result of their engagement activity. The proposal is for the Council to match 
this amount for Southampton, expanding the incentive to include Business Solent 
and offer to the 19-24 age group. 

5 Employer Incentives – Nationally, through the Youth Contract, employers can claim 
a £1,500 AGE payment (Apprenticeship Grant for Employers) for taking on an 
apprentice aged 16-24. The £1,500 is in addition to the training costs of the 
apprenticeship framework which are met in full for 16-18 and 50% for 19-24. A pilot 
scheme at the Isle of Wight Council has match-funded the AGE payment, with 
grants of up to £3,000 used to encourage employers to take on new apprentices. 
Youth Contract data shows a positive impact with take-up on the Isle of Wight 70% 
higher than Southampton or Portsmouth. The proposal is for the Council to match 
the AGE grant for the duration of the campaign, offering 50% uplift for all 
apprenticeships and 100% uplift for ‘green’ apprenticeships, such as ECO/Green 
Deal, Marine (BEEMS) and environmental technologies. 

6 Employer Support – Currently, local face-to-face support for an employer 
considering apprentice recruitment is only available for those with over 250 
employees, with employers under 250 supported by a NAS national helpline. NAS 
has committed resource to support the new campaign, including a member of staff to 
work with networks of small businesses in Southampton, improving awareness and 
making the process of apprenticeship recruitment easier and more personalised. 



APPENDIX 5 
 

BRIEFING PAPER     
 

7 Marketing and Promotion – The previous Southampton ‘100 in 100’ campaign was 
sponsored by the Daily Echo, providing 16-page newspaper supplements and high 
coverage levels. An equivalent ‘Ladder for London’ apprenticeship programme is 
currently working in partnership with the London Evening Standard. The proposal is 
for the new campaign to be ‘adopted’ by the Daily Echo to maximise awareness and 
publicity opportunities. 

RESOURCE/POLICY/FINANCIAL/LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 
 Resource 
8 New staffing resource will be allocated by the National Apprenticeship Service for 

the Southampton campaign. Resource implications for the Council are currently 
being identified. 

9 The campaign will be partly funded by existing national incentives through the Skills 
Funding Agency. The proposal is to match-fund by introducing a Council budget 
(including existing European Social Fund grant secured by the Skills team). Payment 
arrangements will be agreed with Corporate Finance. Projected costs are given in 
Table 1 below: 
Table 1: New Apprenticeship Campaign Projected Costs 
Activity Volume Projected Cost (£) 
Engagement Payments 100 20,000 
Incentive Payments 100 75,000 
Operational Costs - 5,000 
Total  100,000 

 

 Policy 
10 The Southampton City Council Plan 2011-14, currently under review, sets priorities 

to create more jobs for local people, and more local people to be well educated and 
skilled. The Plan includes a specific target for more young people taking up 
apprenticeships and in employment. 

11 The programme will support the Solent LEP and Partnership for Urban Southampton 
Hampshire (PUSH) sub-regional priorities for skills for growth. It will support a 
number of Southampton Connect priority projects, particularly: 

• Gateway to employment and volunteering opportunities; 
• Gateway to a world of learning opportunities; and 
• Gateway to a better future 



APPENDIX 5 
 

BRIEFING PAPER     
 

12 The Raising of the Participation Age (RPA) requires that from summer 2013, young 
people are required to continue in education or training until the end of the academic 
year in which they turn 17, increasing to 18 in 2015. The Council has a duty to 
secure sufficient suitable education and training provision for all young people as 
part of RPA, and the options must include apprenticeships. 

OPTIONS and TIMESCALES: 
 1) Option 1: Delivery of the campaign: 

• March 2013 – Promotion during National Apprenticeship Week 
• April-May 2013 – Campaign launch and first apprentices start 
• May-December 2013 – Campaign activity, achievement and evaluation 

2) Option 2: Do not deliver the programme 
Appendices/Supporting Information: 
 None 
Further Information Available From: Name: Andy Tickner 
 Tel:  X4603 

E-mail:  andy.tickner@southampton.gov.uk 
 


	Agenda
	7 Apprenticeships Inquiry : Meeting 1 ; Setting the Scene
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5


